

64

Paula Virtanen

Effects of Physical Activity and Experimental Diabetes on Carbonic Anhydrase III and Markers of Collagen Synthesis in Skeletal Muscle and Serum



JYVÄSKYLÄ 1999

Paula Virtanen

Effects of Physical Activity and Experimental Diabetes on Carbonic Anhydrase III and Markers of Collagen Synthesis in Skeletal Muscle and Serum

Esitetään Jyväskylän yliopiston liikunta- ja terveystieteiden tiedekunnan suostumuksella julkisesti tarkastettavaksi yliopiston vanhassa juhlasalissa (S 212) marraskuun 27. päivänä 1999 kello 12.

Academic dissertation to be publicly discussed, by permission of the Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences of the University of Jyväskylä, in Auditorium S 212, on November 27, 1999 at 12 o'clock noon.



Effects of Physical Activity and Experimental Diabetes on Carbonic Anhydrase III and Markers of Collagen Synthesis in Skeletal Muscle and Serum

Paula Virtanen

Effects of Physical Activity and Experimental Diabetes on Carbonic Anhydrase III and Markers of Collagen Synthesis in Skeletal Muscle and Serum



JYVÄSKYLÄ 1999

Editors Harri Suominen Department of Health Sciences, University of Jyväskylä Kaarina Nieminen Publishing Unit, University Library of Jyväskylä

URN:ISBN:978-951-39-9076-3 ISBN 978-951-39-9076-3 (PDF) ISSN 0356-1070

Jyväskylän yliopisto, 2022

ISBN 951-39-0558-6 ISSN 0356-1070

Copyright © 1999, by University of Jyväskylä

Jyväskylä University Printing House, Jyväskylä and ER-Paino Ky, Lievestuore 1999

To my parents Kaarina and Kalevi Virtanen

ABSTRACT

Virtanen, Paula

Effects of physical activity and experimental diabetes on carbonic anhydrase III and markers of collagen synthesis in skeletal muscle and serum Jyväskylä: University of Jyväskylä, 1999; 77 p. (Studies in Sport, Physical Education and Health, ISSN 0356-1070; 64) ISBN 951-39-0558-6 Diss.

The adaptations of skeletal muscle carbonic anhydrase III (CA III) and collagen and tendon collagen expression to immobilization and subsequent remobilization were studied. The adaptation of skeletal muscle collagen was also studied during denervation and subsequent reinnervation process. Collagen synthesis was evaluated by the activities of prolyl 4-hydroxylase (PH) and galactosylhydroxylysyl glucosyltransferase (GGT), and collagen content by the concentration of hydroxyproline (Hyp). The effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes and endurance training were studied on CA III expression at mRNA and protein levels. In addition, the effects of concentric exercise were studied on the release of muscle proteins and markers of collagen synthesis. The specific PH and GGT activities decreased significantly after one week of immobilization in rat soleus muscle immobilized in shortened position, whereas in tibialis anterior muscle immobilized in stretched position, the activities increased. The degree of muscle stretch during immobilization seemed to be an important regulator of collagen expression in muscle. During the follow-up of remobilization, the activities of PH and GGT returned towards the control levels. In human vastus medialis muscle, total CA III decreased to the same extent as the muscle crosssectional area during immobilization for six weeks. Denervation brought with it an increased level of collagen biosynthesis and Hyp concentration in rat skeletal muscle. During the follow-up of reinnervation, both the PH and GGT activities and the Hyp concentration decreased to the control level. Both streptozotocininduced diabetes and endurance training increased CA III expression in rat skeletal muscle independently. The finding may represent an adaptation of skeletal muscle cells to increased oxidative stress, which is known to be caused by both treatments. A single bout of heavy concentric exercise caused protein leakage from human muscles and most probably the activation of type I collagen secretion from collagen synthetizing cells which seemed to depend on the strain and damage of the musculoskeletal system.

Key words: Carbonic anhydrase III, collagen, denervation, immobilization, exercise, skeletal muscle, streptozotocin-induced diabetes

| Author's address | Paula Virtanen Department of Biology of Physical Activity University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, Finland |
|------------------|---|
| Supervisor | Professor Timo Takala, MD, PhD Department of Biology of Physical Activity University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, Finland |
| Reviewers | Professor Heikki Helminen, MD, PhD Department of Anatomy University of Kuopio, Kuopio, Finland |
| | Docent Matti Lehto, MD, PhD Rheumatism Foundation Hospital, Heinola and University of Tampere, Tampere, Finlad |
| Opponent | Professor Michael Kjaer, MD, PhD Sports Medicine Research Unit Department of Rheumatology Bispebjerg Hospital Copenhagen, Denmark |

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out in collaboration with the Department of Sports Medicine and the Laboratories of Deaconess Institute of Oulu, Department of Physiology, University of Oulu and Department of Biology of Physical Activity, University of Jyväskylä during the years 1990-1999.

I wish to express my most sincere thanks and respect to my supervisor, Professor Timo Takala, MD, PhD. I highly value his expert scientific knowledge and kind and encouraging supervision during these years. My warmest thanks go to Professor Kalervo Väänänen, MD, PhD, for his expert advice and support.

I am very grateful to the official examiners of this thesis, Professor Heikki Helminen, MD, PhD, and Docent Matti Lehto, MD, PhD, for their critical and valuable comments on the manuscript.

I express my sincere thanks to all my co-authors for their valuable and inspiring contribution to this work: Jarmo Karpakka, MD, PhD, Jukka Savolainen, MD, PhD, Xiaoyan Han, MD, Wei Wang, MD, Juhani Vuori, PhD, Uolevi Tolonen, MD, PhD, Lauri Pasanen, MD, PhD, Jukka Viitasalo PhD, Heikki Kainulainen, MD, PhD, Seppo Lähde, MD, PhD, Sakari Orava, MD, PhD and Jaakko Puranen, MD, PhD.

Special thanks are expressed to my colleagues Satu Koskinen, MSc, Merja Perhonen, MD, PhD, Aino Laurila, MD, PhD and Anne Ahtikoski, MSc, for pleasant collaboration and friendship.

My grateful thanks are due to the laboratory staff at the different departments for skillful laboratory assistance, especially Ms Marja Arbelius, Ms Aila Ollikainen and Ms Auli Autio. I am also grateful to Ms Liisa Asikkala, Mr Jorma Pudas and the personnel of the Animal Laboratory. I wish to thank Polar Electro Oy for support in the finalizing phase of this study. I also thank Malcolm Hicks, MA, for careful revision of the language of this manuscript.

Finally, my deepest gratitude is due to my parents for offering me all the support I could ever wish.

This research was financially supported by the Ministry of Education, Finland and by Graduate School in Musculoskeletal Disorders, and by grants from University of Oulu and University of Jyväskylä.

ABBREVIATIONS

| ATPase | adenosine triphosphatase |
|--------------|--|
| CA | carbonic anhydrase |
| CA III | carbonic anhydrase III |
| cDNA | complementary deoxyribonucleic acid |
| CK | creatine kinase |
| CS | citrate synthase |
| СТ | computed tomography |
| DNA | deoxyribonucleic acid |
| ECM | extracellular matrix |
| EDL | extensor digitorum longus muscle |
| EMG | electromyogram |
| Eu | europium |
| GGT | galactosylhydroxylysyl glucosyltransferase |
| Gly | glycine |
| GM | gastrocnemius muscle |
| Hyp | hydroxyproline |
| KDa | kilodalton |
| LDH | lactic dehydrogenase |
| LEC | liver endothelial cells |
| Mb | myoglobin |
| MHC | myosin heavy chain |
| MW | molecular weight |
| mRNA | messenger ribonucleic acid |
| MVC | maximal voluntary contraction |
| NS | nonsignificant |
| PGK | phosphoglycerate kinase |
| PH | prolyl 4-hydroxylase |
| Pro(I)-C-P | carboxyterminal propeptide of type I procollagen |
| Pro(I)-N-P | aminoterminal propeptide of type I procollagen |
| Pro(III)-N-P | aminoterminal propeptide of type III procollagen |
| RF | rectus femoris muscle |
| RIA | radioimmunoassay |
| RNA | ribonucleic acid |
| S | serum |
| Sm | samarium |
| SD | standard deviation |
| SE | standard error |
| ТА | tibialis anterior muscle |
| TGF-β | transforming growth factor B |
| TGF-β1 | transforming growth factor B1 |
| TnI | troponin I |
| TnT | troponin T |
| VL | vastus lateralis muscle |
| • | |

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

The present thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals:

- I Virtanen P, Väänänen HK, Pasanen L, Lähde S, Puranen J and Takala TES 1991. Effect of immobilization on carbonic anhydrase III andmyoglobin content in human leg muscle. Acta Physiol Scand 142: 303-306. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.1991.tb09161x
- II Virtanen P, Vuori J, Väänänen K, Han X-Y, Wang W and Takala TES. Effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes, training and their combination on the expression of carbonic anhydrase III in rat skeletal muscle. Submitted for publication.
- III Karpakka J, Virtanen P, Väänänen K, Orava S and Takala TES 1991. Collagen synthesis in rat skeletal muscle during immobilization and remobilization. J Appl Physiol 70(4): 1775-1780. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1991.704.1775
- IV Karpakka J, Väänänen K, Virtanen P, Savolainen J, Orava S and Takala TES 1991. The effects of remobilization and exercise on collagen biosynthesis in rat tendon. Acta Physiol Scand 139: 139-145.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.1990.tb08906x

- V Virtanen P, Tolonen U, Savolainen J, Takala TES 1992. Effect of reinnervation on collagen biosynthesis in rat skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol 72(6): 2069-2074. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1992.72.62069
- VI Virtanen P, Viitasalo JT, Vuori J, Väänänen K, Takala TES 1993. Effect of concentric exercise on serum muscle and collagen markers. J Appl Physiol 75(3): 1272-1277. https://doiorg/10.1152/jappl.1993.753.1272

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ABBREVIATIONS LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

| 1 | INTRODUCTION | 13 |
|---|---|--|
| 2 | REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE | 15 15 18 18 19 |
| | 2.2.3 Effects of immobilization, remobilization and denervation on CA III expression in skeletal muscle 2.2.4 Other factors affecting CA III expression in skeletal muscle 2.3 Connective tissue in skeletal muscle and tendon 2.3.1. Structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and for a structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and for a structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and for a structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and for a structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and for a structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and for a structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and for a structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and for a structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and for a structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and for a structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and for a structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and structure and structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and structure a | 20 21 22 |
| | 2.3.2 Functions of collagen in skeletal muscle and tendon 2.3.2 Effects of immobilization on collagen in skeletal muscle and | 22 24 |
| | tendon 2.3.4 Effects of denervation on collagen in skeletal muscle 2.3.5 Effects of increased physical activity on collagen in skeletal | 24 25 |
| | muscle and tendon | 25 26 27 |
| 3 | PURPOSE OF THE STUDY | 29 |
| 4 | MATERIALS AND METHODS 4.1 Animals 4.2 Human subjects 4.3 Immobilization and remobilization 4.4 Denervation and reinnervation 4.5 Streptozotocin-induced diabetes and exercise 4.6 Other exercise studies 4.7 Electrophysiology 4.8 Blood samples and analyses 4.9 Muscle samples 4.10 Biochemical assays | 30 30 31 31 31 32 32 32 33 34 |
| | | 01 |

| | 4.10.1 Tissue preparation | 34 |
|---|--|-----|
| | 4.10.2 CA III and myoglobin concentrations | 34 |
| | 4.10.3 Northern and slot blot analysis | 34 |
| | 4.10.4 PH and GGT enzyme activities, and Hyp concentration | 35 |
| | 4.10.5 Citrate synthase and phosphoglycerate kinase enzyme | |
| | activities and protein contents | 35 |
| | 4.10.6 Serum analyses | 35 |
| | 4.11 Enzyme histochemistry | 35 |
| | 4.12 Computed tomography | 36 |
| | 4.13 Statistical analyses | 36 |
| | | |
| 5 | RESULTS | 37 |
| | 5.1 Effects of immobilization (I, III, IV) and subsequent remobilization | |
| | (III, IV) on skeletal muscle and tendon | 37 |
| | 5.1.1 Weight parameters and estimation of muscle atrophy by CT | |
| | (I, III, IV) | 37 |
| | 5.1.2 CA III and myoglobin concentration in skeletal muscle (I) | 37 |
| | 5.1.3 PH and GGT enzyme activities, and Hyp concentration in | |
| | skeletal muscle (III) | 38 |
| | 5.1.4 PH and GGT enzyme activities, and Hyp concentration in | |
| | tendon (IV) | 40 |
| | 5.2 Effects of denervation and reinnervation on rat skeletal muscle (V) | 41 |
| | 5.2.1 Weight parameters | 41 |
| | 5.2.2 Electrophysiology | 41 |
| | 5.2.3 PH and GGT enzyme activities and Hyp concentration | 41 |
| | 5.3 Effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes, training and their | |
| | combination on rat skeletal muscle (II) | 44 |
| | 5.3.1 Weight parameters | 44 |
| | 5.3.2 CA III expression at protein and mRNA levels | 44 |
| | 5.3.3 Citrate synthase and phosphoglycerate kinase | 44 |
| | 5.4 Effects of a single bout of exhaustive exercise on collagen synthesis in | |
| | skeletal muscle and tendon (IV) | 45 |
| | 5.5 Effects of concentric exercise on serum muscle and collagen markers | |
| | (VI) | 46 |
| | | |
| 6 | DISCUSSION | 47 |
| | 6.1 Effects of immobilization and subsequent remobilization on skeletal | |
| | muscle and tendon | 47 |
| | 6.1.1 Weight parameters | 47 |
| | 6.1.2 CA III expression | 48 |
| | 6.1.3 Collagen synthesis | 49 |
| | 6.2 Effects of denervation and reinnervation process on rat muscle | |
| | collagen | 51 |
| | 6.3 Regulation of collagen metabolism | 53 |
| | 6.4 Effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes, training and their | - 0 |
| | combination on rat muscle CA III expression | 53 |
| | 6.5 Effects of concentric exercise on serum muscle and collagen markers | 55 |
| | | |

| 7 | PRIMARY FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS | 57 |
|---|----------------------------------|----|
| 8 | YHTEENVETO | 59 |
| 9 | REFERENCES | 61 |

1 INTRODUCTION

Skeletal muscle is the most abundant tissue in the body, and is responsible for all bodily movements. The adaptability of skeletal muscle to changes in physical activity is remarkable (Saltin and Gollnick 1983). However, both very small and very extensive physical loading may lead to undesirable changes in muscles and tendons. Proper muscular function depends on intact proprioceptive activity, motor innervation, mechanical load, ability to perform the stretch-shortening cycle, and mobility of the joints. These factors may influence each other, and if one of them is altered muscular adaptation will occur.

Injuries incurred in sports are frequently located at the limbs. Ruptured ligaments and tendons or fractured bones and dislocations of joints require surgery or conservative treatment and subsequently a period of immobilization. Prolonged immobilization of a limb is associated with so-called disuse atrophy (e.g. Wolf et al. 1971, Ingemann-Hansen and Halkjaer-Kristensen 1980). Loss of innervation causes the inhibition of active voluntary contractions of the affected muscle and also results in muscle atrophy (e.g. Jaweed et al. 1975, Niederle and Mayr 1978). Restoration from atrophy is slow, and does not always lead to a full recovery.

Some muscles of the lower extremities are active even when standing. The soleus muscle of the leg is such an antigravity muscle which is mainly composed of type I fibers. Type I fibers are responsible for force production at lower intensities of physical activity. As the intensity is increased type IIa fibers and after that type IIx and finally type IIb fibers are recruited. Type II fibers are also activated when low intensity activity lasts longer. Gradually, adaptive changes in type I fibers occur and type II fibers change in a more oxidative direction. Carbonic anhydrase III (CA III) is one of the major soluble proteins in skeletal muscle. Its concentration is highest in type I fibers, lower in type IIa and lowest or even absent in type IIb fibers (Väänänen et al. 1982, 1985, Jeffery et al. 1987). The physiological function of CA III has not been fully resolved, but evidence has gathered recently suggesting a role as an antioxidant.

Collagen is the major protein of the muscular connective tissue matrix (e.g. Duance et al. 1977, Mayne and Sanderson 1985). The amount of collagen in muscle, tendons and ligaments and its physical properties point to the fact that changes in collagen biosynthesis play a major role in the adaptation of the musculoskeletal system to changes in physical activity.

The purpose of the present study was to examine the adaptive responses of CA III expression and collagen biosynthesis to variations in physical activity, the response of CA III to streptozotocin-induced diabetes and endurance training, the response of collagen to denervation and subsequent reinnervation process, and the effects of concentric exercise on the release of muscle proteins and markers of collagen synthesis.

2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 Effects of physical activity on skeletal muscle fiber types

Muscle mass is known to respond to alterations in activity patterns. Increased work demands lead to compensatory growth, while loss of activity induces tissue atrophy. It has been shown that the loss of normal weight bearing function, in addition to a reduction in contractile activity, is of major importance in facilitating the wasting of skeletal muscle and also the attenuation of muscle growth (Alford et al. 1987, Babij and Booth 1988). Different experimental models have been used to assess the effects of the loss of normal activity in skeletal muscle. Methods designed to produce a state of muscle inactivity without interrupting the nerve supply include e.g. hind limb immobilization, hind limb suspension and tenotomy (Musacchia et al. 1988, Thomason and Booth 1990). Space flights are also known to cause a marked weight loss in mammalian skeletal muscle as a result of exposure to microgravity (Martin 1988, Desplanches 1997), the effects of which have been simulated by different hypokinesia models (Josza et al. 1988, Roy et al. 1996). Denervation, which involves cutting the motor nerve supply to the tissue, is an animal model that is often used (e.g. Herbison et al. 1973, Gundersen and Merlie 1994). In addition to these models, for instance experimental diabetes results in loss of protein, particularly from muscle, by affecting nitrogen metabolism (Manchester 1970). This is due to lack of insulin, which leads to a decrease in the protein synthesis rate (Pain and Garlick 1974).

Prolonged immobilization of a limb is associated with disuse atrophy of the casted muscles, but the extent of this atrophy differs between muscles and fiber types. During rat hind limb immobilization, the muscles involved in antigravity or postural work are more liable to the disuse effect. The ankle joint plantar flexors, and of those especially the soleus and gastrocnemius muscles, are sensitive to disuse (Herbison et al. 1978), whereas the dorsal flexors such as tibialis anterior and extensor digitorum longus (EDL) are less responsive (Musacchia et al. 1988). Type I fibers are known to atrophy more than type II fibers (Edgerton et al. 1975). Thus in soleus, which is mainly composed of type I

fibers, the atrophy is more pronounced than in gastrocnemius or plantaris, which consist mostly of type II fibers (Ariano et al. 1973). Muscle stretch during immobilization is an important determinant of the muscular protein balance. Immobilization of the muscle in shortened position produces a rapid loss of muscle mass, whereas a chronically lengthened position has been shown to either attenuate or prevent muscle atrophy, and in some cases to produce hypertrophy (Hurme et al. 1990, Booth et al. 1996). Denervation is known to cause considerable muscle atrophy, but the fiber types are affected differentially in the slow and fast muscles: type I fibers of rat soleus atrophy as much or slightly more than type II fibers, whereas the type II fibers of EDL, tibialis anterior and plantaris atrophy significantly more than the type I fibers during the first weeks of denervation (Jaweed et al. 1975, Niederle and Mayr 1978, Henning and Lomo 1987, Lu et al. 1997). Lu et al. (1997) found that in EDL and tibialis anterior, type I fibers atrophy more slowly than type II fibers, and more pronounced atrophy in type I fibers is seen only after denervation periods of several months. In mouse soleus muscle, which normally contains slightly more slow than fast twitch fibers, denervation followed by self-reinnervation was shown to cause a significant increase in type I fiber content (Foehring et al. 1986, Bishop and Milton 1998).

Regardless of the techniques adopted to induce muscle disuse in animals, the consequent atrophy is associated with reductions in total protein content without decrements in protein concentration in general (Musacchia 1988). proteins however, can exhibit significant Individual reductions in concentration, e.g. myofibrillar proteins appear to be particularly susceptible to disuse effects (Herbison et al. 1979, Jaspers et al. 1985, Booth and Criswell 1997). Disuse atrophy during immobilization features both slower protein synthesis and faster protein degradation (Witzmann et al. 1982, Jaspers and Tischler 1984, Goldspink and Lewis 1985, Booth and Criswell 1997). Alterations in protein turnover following denervation or tenotomy are effected primarily by marked enhancement of protein breakdown with a smaller impact on protein synthesis (Musacchia et al. 1988). Aside from the potential limitations imposed by inadequate levels of precursors or a reduced capacity for energy production, depressed rates of protein synthesis in disused muscles can ultimately be traced to the translational and transcriptional levels.

In addition to muscle weight and fiber size, muscle atrophy may be accompanied by many functional and biochemical properties. One of the most evident responses to atrophy is loss of strength in the affected muscles (Appell 1990). Also changes in myosin isoforms, oxidative enzyme content and glycolytic enzymes have been demonstrated (Appell 1990, Thomason and Booth 1990). In rat skeletal muscle atrophy is generally accompanied by a shift in the contractile and enzymatic profiles of a slow-twitch oxidative muscle toward that of a fast-twitch glycolytic muscle (Booth and Kelso 1973a, Laurila et al. 1991, Kannus et al. 1998, Laurila et al., submitted). The slow muscle starts transcribing the fast myosin heavy chain (MHC) gene (Goldspink et al. 1992). During remobilization the contraction time returns to the control level earlier than muscle strength or biochemical properties (Booth and Seider 1979, Witzmann et al. 1982). As stated in the previous chapter, immobilization of a fast-twitch muscle like the tibialis anterior or plantaris in a stretched position may either attenuate or prevent muscle atrophy. A fiber-type-shift from type IIb to IIa has been observed, however (Cotter et al. 1988, Loughna et al. 1990, Laurila et al. 1991), although the electrical activity is not changed (Cotter et al. 1988). Hind limb suspension (Ishihara et al. 1997) and hypokinesia (Marsh 1992, Roy et al. 1996) cause a I-to-IIa fiber-type-shift in the rat soleus and gastrocnemius.

Also in humans plasticity of the skeletal muscle phenotype can result in response to changes in innervation patterns (Calvo et al. 1996, Burnham et al. 1997). Denervation may be caused by spinal cord injury, in which the upper motoneuron is affected while the lower motoneuron is intact. The effect of denervation on different fiber types in humans seems to resemble that in the rat, in that during the early phases of denervation, type II muscle fibers seem to be mostly affected (Lotta et al. 1991, Lu et al. 1997). During the later course also the oxidative type I fibers are affected (Lotta et al. 1991, Lu et al. 1997), resulting in a predominance of type II, more specifically type IIb fiber (Lotta et al. 1991). At least in the rat, myosin expression is changed after denervation so that fiber type IIa re-expresses embryonic and neonatal myosin (Schiaffino et al. 1987). Specific electrical stimulation has also been shown to induce a fiber type shift in both rat and human muscle (Howald 1982, Staron et al. 1987, Kirschbaum et al. 1989, Martin et al. 1992, Greve et al. 1993, Andersen et al. 1996). The shift is usually from type IIb to type IIa (Greve et al. 1993, Andersen et al. 1996), or an increase in the relative proportion of type I fibers (Staron et al. 1987, Kirschbaum et al. 1989, Martin et al. 1992).

After immobilization, the recovery of muscle weight lasts 2-4 times longer than the period of immobilization (Goldspink 1977, Laurila et al., submitted). Following crush denervation, the nerve conduction reappears about 3 weeks after the neuronal damage, indicating that functional reinnervation takes place 2 to 3 weeks after crushing of the nerve (Herbison et al. 1973). Muscle weight also starts to increase after 2 to 3 weeks, so that the slow muscles increase in weight and fiber diameter a little earlier than the fast muscles (Jaweed et al. 1975). After transection of the nerve, a deficit in the power output of the reinnervated rat muscles has been observed as much as four months later (Yoshimura et al. 1999).

According to clinical studies, in humans third-degree sprains (complete ruptures) of knee ligaments, whether treated conservatively or operatively, may result in 10-35% strength and power deficits of the quadriceps and hamstring muscles when evaluated several years after the injury (Kannus et al. 1992). Long-lasting deficits can also be observed in the electrical activity of the atrophied muscles. According to Luthi et al. (1989) six months of supervised retraining could not fully restore the strength and endurance characteristics of the immobilized muscles. The volume densities of the mitochondria, as determined from muscle biopsies, were also below normal. It has been suggested that the atrophying effects of immobilization can be prevented by preimmobilization training, early controlled mobilization, optimal positioning of the immobilized joint, muscular training during immobilization, early weight bearing, exercise with the non-immobilized extremity, and electrical stimulation (Kannus et al. 1992). Early motion and loading of injured tissues is not without risks, however, because excessive or premature loading and motion of repair tissue can inhibit or stop healing (Buckwalter 1996).

2.2 Carbonic anhydrase III

2.2.1 General

Carbonic anhydrase (CA) was first discovered in high concentrations in erythrocytes in the early 1930s (Meldrum and Roughton 1933) and has been intensively investigated since then. CA is a ubiquitous metalloenzyme found in all animals and photosynthesizing organisms examined for its presence, as well as in some non-photosynthetic bacteria (Lindskog 1997). A relatively new discovery is the existence of three evolutionarily unrelated CA families (Hewett-Emmett and Tashian 1996). All known CAs from the animal kingdom belong to the same family. So far, nine isoenzymes have been found in mammals: CA I-VII, CA IX and CA XII (Table 1), and they are widely distributed both among species and among tissues, cell types and organelles (e.g. Dodgson et al. 1991, Sly and Hu 1995, Hewett-Emmett and Tashian 1996, Tureci et al. 1998). In addition, three catalytically inactive CA-related proteins have been characterized: CA VIII, CA X and CA XI (Sly and Hu 1995). CAs catalyze the reversible hydration of carbon dioxide: $CO_2 + H_2O \leftrightarrow HCO_2^- + H^+$. The isoenzymes differ in their hydratase activities, with CA II having the highest activity, by virtue of which it is ranked among the most efficient enzymes known, and CA III having a considerably lower activity than isoenzymes I, II, IV, V and VI. In addition to the hydratase activity, CAs can act as an esterase and catalyze the hydration of various aldehydes and pyruvic acid (Pocker and Meany 1965, Pocker and Sarkanen 1978). Some of the CA genes are expressed in nearly all tissues, whereas others are more limited in their distribution. In many tissues the functions of CAs are well described; the isoenzymes are involved in the transport of CO₂ between metabolizing tissue and the lungs, in many secretory processes, in ion transport and in the provision of bicarbonate and hydrogen ions for fatty acid synthesis, gluconeogenesis, ureagenesis and excitation-contraction coupling (Tashian and Hewett-Emmett 1984, Wetzel et al. 1990).

| Isoenzyme | MW | Activity | Cellular location | Tissue distribution |
|------------|------------|----------|-------------------|-----------------------------------|
| CAI | 29 kDa | low | cytoplasm | widespread |
| CA II | 29 kDa | high | cytoplasm | widespread |
| CA III | 29 kDa | low | cytoplasm | skeletal muscle, fat cells, liver |
| CA IV | 35-68 kDa | high | cell membrane | widespread |
| CA V | 34 kDa | high | michondria | widespread |
| CA VI | 36-42 kDa | high | secreted | parotid salivary gland |
| CA VI I | 29 kDa | ? | cytoplasm | salivary gland |
| CA IX | 54, 58 kDa | present | plasma membrane/ | neoplastic cells and tissues |
| | | | nucleus | |
| CA XII | 39 kDa | present | cell membrane | human renal cell carcinoma |
| 0 11 . 1 (| , | | · · · · · · | |

TABLE 1 Classification of carbonic anhydrase (CA) isozymes.

Collected from references occurring in the text.

Until the late 1970s it was thought that skeletal muscle did not contain CA, but then Holmes (1977) found a low activity carbonic anhydrase (CA III) in red skeletal muscle. CA III is now known to be present in large amounts in animal and human skeletal muscle and in animal liver and adipose tissue (Holmes 1977, Register et al. 1978, Carter et al. 1979, Shiels et al. 1984, Spicer et al. 1990). In muscle it is highly concentrated in the type I fibers, comprising about 8% of the cytoplasmic protein (Carter et al. 1991). CA III is also found in small amounts in type IIa fibers, but is basically undetectable in type IIb fibres (Jeffery et al. 1987, Fremont et al. 1988). CA III expression has also been found in human erythrocytes, uterus, bladder and lung (Jeffery et al. 1980, Carter et al. 1984), human smooth muscle and myoepithelial cells (Väänänen and Autio-Harmainen 1987) and in the epithelium of rodent salivary gland ducts, colon, bronchi and the male genital tract (Spicer et al. 1990). Ultrastructural studies have shown that CA III is diffusely distributed through the muscle fiber sarcoplasm (Väänänen et al. 1985, Fremont et al. 1988). In addition to the cytoplasm, traces of CA III have been found in rat liver cell nuclei (Dodgson et al. 1993).

2.2.2 Function of CA III in skeletal muscle

It has been suggested that CA III may facilitate the transport of metabolic CO₂ inside muscle cells (e.g. Gros and Dodgson 1988). However, during the past few years evidence has gathered suggesting other possible functions. CA III has several characteristics that distinguish it from the other carbonic anhydrase isoenzymes. Firstly, it has a very low specific activity as a CO₂ hydratase, only about 1% of that of CA II (Engberg et al. 1985). In spite of the low activity, a well-defined binding site for bicarbonate is retained (Eriksson and Liljas 1993). It has been speculated that this binding site may predispose CA III to oxidative modification (Cabiscol and Levine 1995), because the bicarbonate/carbonate system has been shown to accelerate the oxidation of amino acids, peptides and proteins as compared with other buffer systems (e.g. Stadtman et al. 1990). Thus

the reaction that is catalyzed by CA III may lead to its own oxidative modification (Cabiscol and Levine 1995).

A second characteristic that distinguishes CA III from the other isoenzymes is that it has inherent phosphatase activity (Koester et al. 1981). This activity is regulated by reversible glutathiolation, in which a disulphide link is formed between two of CA III's cystein residues and glutathione (Cabiscol and Levine 1996). The glutathiolation of CA III is known to increase during oxidative stress (Rokutan et al. 1991, Chai et al. 1994a,b, Lii et al. 1994). Recent experiments with CA III overexpressing cells have confirmed that these cells have a lower steady-state level of oxygen radicals and are more resistant to H_2O_2 -induced apoptosis than their parent cells (Räisänen et al. 1999). This antioxidant function could point to an important cellular role of CA III, especially in the oxidative type I muscle fibers, since exercise is known to increase free radical formation in skeletal muscle (Frankiewicz-Jozko et al. 1996). On the other hand, endurance training increases antioxidant defence protein expression, especially in highly oxidative muscles (Sen 1995).

Other factors besides exercise that are known to induce oxidative stress include ageing and diabetes mellitus (Starke-Reed and Oliver 1989, Asayama et al. 1994, Sardesai 1995, Giugliano et al. 1996, Laaksonen et al. 1996). Muscular atrophy *per se* has also been suggested to be implicated in oxidative stress (Kondo and Itokawa 1994). It was observed that while the absolute amount of CA III in male rat liver decreased during ageing, the specific CO_2 hydratase and esterase activities changed only to a minor degree (Cabiscol and Levine 1995). In contrast, the phosphatase activity was almost completely lost by 18 months of age, due to the considerable increase in the extent of CA III glutathiolation with age (Cabiscol and Levine 1996). High levels of the thiolated forms of CA III were also detected in skeletal muscle.

Other possible physiological functions for CA III have also been discussed. According to Fremont et al. (1987), there is no correlation between the oxidative capacity of a given muscle fiber type and its CA III activity and content, whereas a highly significant negative correlation exists between the level of CA III activity and the activities of various glycolytic enzymes (Baldwin et al. 1973). Also, when rats are rendered hypo- or hyperthyroid, several changes occur at the energy metabolism level that are coupled with a rapid increase or decrease in CA III expression, respectively (Cote et al. 1997). It was proposed on the basis of examinations of glucose and glycogen metabolism under conditions of CA III inhibition that CA III could have a down-regulatory effect on the glycogenolytic and/or glycolytic rate in muscle (Cote et al. 1993). Later, Cote et al. (1997) found no influence of CA III inhibition on muscle glycolytic flux during a muscle fatigue protocol.

2.2.3 Effects of immobilization, remobilization and denervation on CA III expression in skeletal muscle

Immobilization of muscles in shortened and lengthened positions affects CA III expression in different ways, and these effects are muscle-specific. When a fast

muscle such as the tibialis anterior or plantaris is immobilized in lengthened position the protein and mRNA concentrations of CA III are increased (Laurila et al. 1991, Brownson and Loughna 1996). At the same time, a fiber type shift from type IIb to IIa was observed by Laurila et al. (1991), which is in accordance with the reports by Cotter et al. (1988) and Loughna et al. (1990) of a fiber type shift in rat fast muscles after immobilization. Reversal of the elevation in CA III concentration is slow, the control level not being reached even after a remobilization period of nine weeks (Laurila et al., submitted). In slow muscle the changes in CA III expression caused by immobilization are smaller. When soleus was immobilized in shortened position for 3 weeks, a fiber type shift from type I to type IIa and increased variation in the intensity of CA III immunostaining were observed (Laurila et al. 1991). The changes were not reversed during a nine-week remobilization period (Laurila et al., submitted). CA III mRNA diminished in soleus muscle immobilized in shortened position for 2 days (Brownson and Loughna 1996). Immobilization in lengthened position caused first an increase in CA III mRNA (after 2 days) and subsequently a decrease (after 5 days). Denervation has also been shown to increase CA III expression at both the protein and mRNA level in the type II fibers of rat skeletal muscle (Wistrand et al. 1987, Carter et al. 1988).

2.2.4 Other factors affecting CA III expression in skeletal muscle

In addition to neural stimuli, the amount of CA III in skeletal muscle is responsive to hormonal stimuli and electric stimulation. During development, in both rat and human the major increase in CA III expression occurs at a stage when foetal polyneuronal innervation has regressed and the specific fiber/nerve impulse patterns are being established (Jeffery et al. 1980). During ageing, the concentration of CA III increases slowly in rat fast muscle reaching its maximum level at 26 months, whereas in slow muscle the concentration is declining at this time (Jeffery et al. 1988). Thyroidectomy leads to a considerable increase in the number of CA III -positive fibers in rat muscle (Jeffery et al. 1987). These fibers have been classified as belonging to the C-fibers, which are intermediate between types IIa and IIb (Jeffery et al. 1987). Steroids and other sex hormones are not known to affect muscle CA III, but in rodent liver, CA III is induced by testosterone (Carter et al. 1984). Chronic low-frequency stimulation induces CA III and slow myosin heavy chain (MHC) in rabbit fast muscle (Gros and Dodgson 1988) but not in that of the rat (Jeffery et al. 1990). According to Jeffery et al. (1990), CA III expression is connected with slow MHC expression.

2.3 Connective tissue in skeletal muscle and tendon

2.3.1 Structure and synthesis of collagen in skeletal muscle and tendon

Multicellular organisms are formed by specialized cells which are assembled in tissues. The extracellular matrix (ECM) outside the cells is a complex and dynamic meshwork containing collagens, noncollagenous glycoproteins and proteoglycans. ECM supports the cellular elements and maintains the structural integrity of multicellular organisms. It helps cells to bind together and regulates various cellular processes, such as cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, migration and adhesion. Collagen is the most abundant protein of the ECM, constituting 20-25% of all protein in the body (Waterlow et al. 1978). Up to the present, 19 distinct collagen types have been found in vertebrates (Prockop and Kivirikko 1995). They are usually divided into two subgroups, fibril-forming and nonfibril-forming collagens on the basis of their supramolecular structures. In skeletal muscle (Table 2), collagen is mainly present in three fibrillar forms, collagen types I, III and V, and one nonfibril-forming collagen, type IV of basement membranes (Duance et al. 1977, Bailey et al. 1979). Of these, types I and III are the most abundant. In addition, collagen types II, XI, XIII, XIV, XV, and XVIII have been found in skeletal muscle and type VI in cardiac muscle (Sandberg et al. 1989 and 1993, Bashey et al. 1992, Wälchli et al. 1994, Kivirikko et al. 1995, Saarela et al. 1998). Tendon consists almost entirely of type I collagen fibrils, and type I collagen accounts also for most of the organic matrix of bones (Davison 1982).

| Collagen type | Localization |
|----------------|--|
| Fibrillar: | |
| Ι | endo-, peri- and epimysium |
| II | human fetal tissues |
| III | endo-, peri- and epimysium |
| V | endomysium |
| Non-fibrillar: | |
| IV | basement membrane, endomysium |
| XI | human fetal tissue |
| XIII | human fetal endomysial, mesenchymal cells |
| XIV | chicken embryonic tissue |
| XV | human fetal and adult tissues, endomysium |
| XVIII | human fetal and adult tissues, epi- and perimysium |

TABLE 2 Collagen types found in skeletal muscle.

Collected from references occurring in the text.

The network of the ECM in skeletal muscle is divided into three subdivisions (Leeson and Leeson 1981):

- (i) endomysium, which surrounds each individual muscle fiber,
- (ii) perimysium, which surrounds several muscle fibers, forming muscle
- bundles, and interconnects epimysium by collagenous septa,
- (iii) epimysium, which surrounds the entire muscle.

Collagen types I and III are present in epimysium and perimysium, with type I dominating in both layers. In endomysium, all the major skeletal muscle collagen types have been found (Foidart et al. 1981, Light and Champion 1984). It has been shown that slow-twitch muscles contain more collagen than fast-twitch muscles (Garcia-Bunuel and Garcia-Bunuel 1967, Kovanen et al. 1980, 1984a), and that the concentration of endomysial collagen is higher around slow than fast skeletal muscle fibers in rats (Kovanen et al. 1984a).

In skeletal muscle, collagen is produced principally by fibroblasts on the membrane-bound ribosomes of the rough endoplasmic reticulum. Collagen biosynthesis is characterized by the presence of an extensive number of co- and post-translational modifications of the polypeptide chains, which contribute to the quality and stability of the collagen molecule (Kivirikko and Myllylä 1982b). The polypeptide chains form triple-helical procollagen molecules, which are secreted into the extracellular space by exocytosis. Procollagens contain aminoterminal and carboxyterminal extension peptides at the respective ends of the collagen molecule, and after secretion, the amino-propeptides are cleaved off by procollagen N-proteinase and the carboxyl-propeptides by procollagen C-proteinase. After this, the collagens self-assemble into fibrils or other supramolecular structures.

The three polypeptide chains which form the triple-helical structure are called α -chains. The molecular organization of the different collagen types differs in that type I collagen is a heterotrimer of two identical $\alpha 1(I)$ chains and one $\alpha 2(I)$ chain, while type III collagen is a homotrimer of $\alpha 1(III)$ chains. The most common form of type IV collagen consists of two $\alpha 1$ (IV) chains and one α 2(IV) chain, but other forms also exist. The α -chains are composed of repeating amino acid sequences Gly-X-Y, in which the glycine residue in every third position enables the three α -chains to coil around one another. Proline and 4hydroxyproline (Hyp) residues appear frequently at the X- and Y-positions, respectively, and promote the formation of intermolecular cross-links (Vuorio and de Crombrugghe 1990). The stability and quality of the collagen molecule is largely based on its intra- and intermolecular cross-links. Hyp as a part of the polypeptide chain is an almost unique feature of collagen, and its assay is therefore suitable for evaluating collagen content (Kivirikko and Myllylä 1982a). The formation of Hyp is catalyzed by prolyl 4-hydroxylase (PH). The levels of PH activity generally increase and decrease with rates of collagen biosynthesis, and thus assays of the enzyme activity have been used to estimate changes in the rate of collagen biosynthesis in many experimental and physiological conditions (e.g. Turto et al. 1974, Kivirikko and Myllylä 1982b, Takala et al.

1983, 1991, Myllylä et al. 1986, Savolainen et al. 1987, 1988a, 1988b, Karpakka et al. 1990, 1992, Han et al. 1995, Kääpä et al. 1995). Also changes in the activity of galactosylhydroxylysyl glucosyltransferase (GGT), another posttranslational enzyme of collagen synthesis, reflect changes in collagen biosynthesis rate (e.g. Kivirikko and Myllylä 1982b, Takala et al. 1983, 1991, Savolainen et al. 1987, 1988a, 1988b, Karpakka et al. 1990, 1992, Han et al. 1995, Kääpä et al. 1995). While the amount of Hyp is quite constant, the degree of glycosylations can vary considerably (Kivirikko and Myllylä 1982a).

Muscle is attached to its tendon at the end of the fibers, where the collagen fibrils of muscle fuse or interdigitate with the collagen fibrils of tendon (Davison 1982). The type I collagen fibrils of tendon run in parallel, to form a tough, rather inelastic structure representing 60-85% of the total dry weight of tendon (Tipton et al. 1975, Kirkendall and Garrett 1997). The rest of the substance consists mostly of proteoglycans, and about 2% is noncollagenous proteins, mainly elastin.

2.3.2 Functions of collagen in skeletal muscle and tendon

The connective tissue network of skeletal muscle has a dynamic role during muscle differentiation and normal muscle growth, and it serves as a supportive structure in skeletal muscle and tendon (Duance et al. 1977, Bailey et al. 1979, Kühl et al. 1984, Mayne and Sanderson 1985). Collagen forms the linkages between the muscle and its associated collagenous tissues such as tendon or fascia, and is also the fibrillar component of the cell-to-cell connections both between individual muscle cells and nerves. It gives coherence and mechanical strength and also functions as an elastic, stress-tolerant system as well as distributes the forces of muscular contractions in both muscle and tendon. Its tensile strength is based on intra- and intermolecular crosslinks, the orientation and density of the fibrils and fibers. In addition, collagen, like the other ECM compounds, conforms to the micro-environment around the individual muscle fibers and participates in the growth of the cells and tissue regeneration after damage (Chiquet et al. 1996).

2.3.3 Effects of immobilization on collagen in skeletal muscle and tendon

The metabolism of muscular and tendinous collagen and the connective tissue network are known to respond to altered levels of physical activity. Cast immobilization of the rat hind limb leads to a decrease in the enzyme activities of collagen biosynthesis in both skeletal muscle and tendon (Savolainen et al. 1988a,b), suggesting that the biosynthesis of the collagen network decreases as a consequence of reduced muscular and tendinous activity. The rate of total collagen synthesis depends mostly on the overall protein balance of the tissue (Turto et al. 1974), but it seems to be promoted by stretch in both muscle and tendon (Savolainen et al. 1988a,b) and by low resistance exercise (Karpakka et al. 1990) and running training in muscle (Kovanen 1989). According to

Savolainen et al. (1988a) there is a difference between the plantar flexors and dorsal flexors of the rat hind limb in response to stretch during immobilization. In plantar flexors, especially the soleus, the collagen biosynthesis seems to be more dependent on muscle stretch and loading than in dorsal flexors. Changes in the total collagen content of muscle, measured in terms of hydroxyproline content, are usually small or absent during immobilization lasting for a few weeks, which probably reflects the slow turn-over of collagen (Savolainen et al. 1988a). Also, increased collagen content has been observed in muscle after immobilization (Jozsa et al. 1988). In tendon, findings on the effects of immobilization to collagen content vary (Klein et al. 1982, Savolainen et al. 1988b, Vailas et al. 1989).

Collagen expression during immobilization has been shown to be at least partially down-regulated at the pretranslational level (Han et al. 1999b). The mRNA for the α -subunit of PH was decreased already after one day's immobilization and the mRNAs for collagen types I and III were decreased after three days of immobilization. Ahtikoski et al. (1997) observed down-regulation of the expression of type I collagen and its posttranslational modificators in the soleus immobilized in shortened position, but the effect was partly prevented by stretch.

2.3.4 Effects of denervation on collagen in skeletal muscle

The responses in muscular collagen biosynthesis differ between the denervation and disuse forms of atrophy. Denervation atrophy is associated with an increase in the activities of PH and GGT and muscular collagen concentration (Savolainen et al. 1988b). When the denervated rat hind limb muscles were immobilized no profound length-associated changes were observed in the PH, GGT and hydroxyproline responses of the muscles. However, the denervated muscles immobilized in shortened position atrophied more than the lengthened ones (Savolainen et al. 1988b). Thus the denervated muscle can also adapt to a chronically stretched or slackened position by increasing or reducing the number of sarcomeres in its fibers (Tabary et al. 1981). Consequently, denervation seems to "uncouple" the regulation of the adaptive responses of muscular collagen biosynthesis from the atrophy process taking place in the muscle as a whole (Savolainen et al. 1988b).

2.3.5 Effects of increased physical activity on collagen in skeletal muscle and tendon

Skeletal muscle is known to respond to increased loading caused by endurance training (Kovanen et al. 1980, 1987, Takala et al. 1983, Zimmerman et al. 1993), acute exercise (Myllylä et al. 1986) or experimental compensatory hypertrophy (Turto et al. 1974, Williams and Goldspink 1981) by increased collagen synthesis and/or accumulation in the muscle. In tendon, neither a single exercise bout nor endurance training has been shown to increase collagen synthetizing enzyme activities or collagen content (Tipton et al. 1975, Woo et al. 1980, 1981,

Viidik 1986). Strenuous exercise, especially acute weight bearing exercise that contains eccentric components, is known to cause muscle damage (Armstrong et al. 1983). During endurance training, elevated activities of betaglucuronidase, a marker of muscle injury, have been observed (Vihko and Salminen 1986). On the other hand, up-regulation of collagen synthesis may also occur without any evidence of muscle damage (Han et al. 1999a). Acceleration of collagen biosynthesis after exercise may thus reflect both physiological adaptation and repair of the damage, which is known to be more pronounced in the red part of the muscle (predominantly type I fibers) than in the white part (predominantly type II fibers) (Myllylä et al. 1986). Exercise training before exhaustive running has been shown to partially prevent the increase in collagen synthetizing enzymes (Myllylä et al. 1986). On the other hand, swimming training before immobilization slows down the decrease in collagen synthetizing enzymes caused by disuse and even accelerates collagen synthesis (Karpakka et al. 1990). It is known that the specific activities of PH and GGT, and also the Hyp concentration, are greater in the tonically activated antigravity soleus muscle than in the tibialis anterior muscle, which is not tonically active (Kovanen et al. 1984, Savolainen et al. 1987). As during swimming the muscle contractions are concentric, lacking weight bearing and eccentric components, concentric contractile activity *per se* may be one stimulus for collagen biosynthesis.

2.4 Effects of experimental diabetes on skeletal muscle

Insulin is known to play an extensive role in the regulation of skeletal muscle protein turnover (Grizard et al. 1999). It increases amino acid uptake into muscle cells and accelerates both translation and transcription (Miers and Barrett 1998). Insulin also inhibits the breakdown of muscle protein (Charlton and Nair 1998). In diabetes mellitus the insulin action on protein synthesis and degradation is decreased due to the lack of insulin, and a catabolic state is produced if insulin is not replaced. Streptozotocin-induced diabetes is a widely used experimental model of diabetes mellitus in rats. It is accompanied by muscle atrophy and reduction in the weight gain of the animal (e.g. Harpur 1980, Moynihan and Ennis 1990, Kainulainen et al. 1994). According to Kimball and Jefferson (1991) the inhibition of protein synthesis in the rat muscles composed primarily of slow-twitch fibers (e.g. soleus), can be accounted for entirely by a decrease in the amount of RNA during experimental diabetes, while in muscles of mixed fiber composition (e.g. gastrocnemius), it is associated with an impairment of peptide-chain initiation.

Diabetes is also known to cause delayed wound healing, toughened skin (Buckingham et al. 1984) and decreased bone formation (Goodman et al. 1984) as well as decreased solubility of collagen, increased tensile strength and increased non-enzymatic glycation (Brennan 1989). The effects of diabetes on collagen synthesis have been studied in many organs and tissues, e.g. bone (Harvey and Nakamoto 1988), myocardium (Reddi 1988), cartilage (Spanheimer 1992), skin (Fullana et al. 1993) and periodontal tissue (Oliver and Tervonen 1994). Han et al. (1995) found that streptozotocin-induced diabetes reduced the rate of collagen synthesis, which exceeded the negative total protein balance in the skeletal muscle of the rat. Physical training had an increasing effect on muscular collagen synthesis in non-diabetic rats, but was unable to prevent the decreasing effect of diabetes on collagen synthesis.

During the past few years evidence concerning the connection between diabetes mellitus and increased oxidative stress has accumulated (Asayama et al. 1994, Sardesai et al. 1995, Giugliano et al. 1996, Laaksonen et al. 1996). Laaksonen et al. (1996) found that exercise caused greater oxidative stress in insulin dependent diabetic patients than in healthy subjects. Moynihan and Ennis (1990) studied the effect of streptozotocin-induced diabetes on CA III in rats. They observed that diabetes resulted in a decrease in CA III activity in the male rat liver. In soleus muscle the CA III activity was slightly increased, but not statistically significantly.

Streptozotocin-induced diabetes is also known to reduce oxidative enzyme activity in rat skeletal muscle (Ianuzzo et al. 1974, Ianuzzo and Armstrong 1976, Goodyear et al. 1988, Kainulainen et al. 1994) in a manner that is both dose dependent and fiber type specific (Ianuzzo and Armstrong 1976, Kainulainen et al. 1994).

2.5 Effects of exercise on serum muscle and collagen markers

Strenuous physical exercise that results in injury to the skeletal muscle also causes protein leakage from the muscle cells (Armstrong et al. 1983, Armstrong 1986). In addition to direct muscle studies, serum activities or concentrations of certain muscle-specific proteins have been widely used to verify skeletal muscle damage and to estimate its magnitude (Armstrong et al. 1983, Janssen et al. 1989). The damage increases with both the intensity and duration of the exercise bout, intensity having the greater influence (Tiidus and Ianuzzo 1983). Eccentric contractions are known to cause more damage than concentric ones (Armstrong et al. 1983).

Serum measurements of muscle proteins such as the sarcoplasmic enzymes creatine kinase (CK) and its isoenzymes, and lactic dehydrogenase (LDH) and its isoenzymes, as well as nonenzymatic markers such as myoglobin (Mb), have commonly been used to monitor protein leakage from muscular cells (e.g. Armstrong 1986). Later, serum concentrations of contractile proteins such as troponin T (TnT) (Gerhardt et al. 1991, Mair et al. 1991, Katus et al. 1992, Löfberg et al. 1995), troponin I (TnI) (Sorichter et al. 1997), and myosin (Mair et al. 1992, Melin et al. 1997) have been studied. TnT has in some studies been advocated as a marker for myocardial damage (Bhayana and Henderson 1995), but in other studies it has been shown to be increased in the serum of patients with skeletal muscle damage (Gerhardt et al. 1991, Mair et al. 1991, 1992, Katus et al. 1992,

Löfberg et al. 1995, Melin et al. 1997). CA III is a marker protein concentrated in type I muscle fibers (Väänänen et al. 1985, Zheng et al. 1992). It has been shown to be a more sensitive serum marker of muscle damage than CK or LDH (Väänänen et al. 1986b, 1988) and approximately as sensitive as Mb (Takala et al. 1989a, Väänänen et al. 1990). Increased serum CA III concentrations have been observed after various forms of running and cross-country skiing exercises (Takala et al. 1989a, Takala et al. 1989b) and in connection with neuromuscular diseases (Väänänen et al. 1988). It has also been questioned whether the serum activities or concentrations of muscle proteins are adequate indicators of muscle damage (Van der Meulen 1991, Komulainen et al. 1995). In the study of Komulainen et al. (1995) serum CK activities were increased without concomitant muscle damage and, on the other hand, muscle damage occurred without a statistically significant increase in serum CK activity (Komulainen et al. 1995).

Elevated serum markers of collagen biosynthetizing enzymes have been observed in neuromuscular, hepatic and dermatological diseases (Kuutti-Savolainen 1979, Kuutti-Savolainen et al. 1979, Myllylä et al. 1982) and after physical exercise (Takala et al. 1986, Takala et al. 1989b). The activity of serum GGT correlates with the activities of GGT and PH in muscle and liver biopsy specimens (Kuutti-Savolainen et al. 1979, Myllylä et al. 1982), which suggests that increased serum GGT reflects accelerated collagen synthesis. Hyp is not recycled for the synthesis of new collagen, and its serum and urine concentrations are thus useful biochemical markers of collagen turnover (Kivirikko et al. 1967, Adams and Frank 1980, Cundy et al. 1983).

During the conversion of procollagen to collagen (in the formation of new collagen), the propeptides of the procollagens split off in a stoichiometric manner, and are released into the extracellular fluid (Kivirikko and Myllylä 1982a). Serum measurements of the carboxyterminal propeptide of type I procollagen (Pro(I)-C-P), the aminoterminal propeptide of type I procollagen (Pro(I)-N-P) and the aminoterminal propeptide of type III procollagen (Pro(III)-N-P) have been used to assess collagen synthesis in various pathological states (Lammi et al. 1997, 1999, Tapanainen et al. 1997, Crowley et al. 1998, Hunzelmann et al. 1998, Santala et al. 1998, Toivonen et al. 1998). Elevated serum concentrations of Pro(III)-N-P have been observed in connection with diseases affecting muscular tissue and resulting in increased collagen formation (Myllylä et al. 1982). Serum Pro(III)-N-P shows a high correlation with serum GGT and with muscular PH and GGT (Myllylä et al. 1982). Prolonged heavy exercise has also been shown to cause an increase in serum Pro(III)-N-P and GGT (Takala et al. 1986). Serum concentrations of Pro(I)-C-P and Pro(I)-N-P have been shown to correlate with the rate of bone formation (Risteli et al. 1991, Risteli and Risteli 1997, Toivonen et al. 1998). Type I collagen degradation can be specifically detected by analysing either cross-linked carboxyor aminoterminal telopeptides or the cross-links themselves liberated during the degradation process (Risteli and Risteli 1997, Liesegang et al. 1998, Toivonen et al. 1998).

3 PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The aims of the present study were:

- 1. To study the adaptive changes in the expression of CA III in skeletal muscle to immobilization (I)
- 2. To study the effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes, endurance training and their combination on the expression of CA III at mRNA and protein levels in skeletal muscle (II)
- 3. To study the adaptive changes of collagen biosynthesis in skeletal muscle to variations in physical activity (III, IV), denervation and the subsequent reinnervation process (V) and the changes in tendon collagen biosynthesis upon variations in physical activity (IV)
- 4. To study the effect of an acute bout of high intensity concentric exercise on serum CA III and collagen marker proteins (VI)

4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Animals

Adult male Sprague-Dawley rats from the stock of the Department of Physiology, University of Oulu (studies III, IV and V) and from the stock of Laboratory Animal Unit, University of Tampere (study II), were used. The rats were housed under normal cage conditions (10:14 h light-dark cycle in studies III, IV and V; and 12:12 h light-dark cycle in study II) and maintained on a standard rodent diet (Astra-Ewos, Sweden) and water ad libitum. The experimental manipulations were approved by the Committee of Animal Experimentation in the University of Oulu (studies III, IV and V) or by the Institution of Animal Care and Use at the University of Tampere (study II). Casting (studies III and IV) and denervation (study V) were performed under neuroleptic anaesthesia (fentanyl citrate 0.315 mg, fluanisone 10 mg·ml⁻¹; Hypnorm[®], intramuscularly). In the casted rats the dose was 1 mg·kg⁻¹ and in the denervated rats it was 1.3 mg·kg⁻¹. In study V, the rats were also given Hypnorm[®] 0.3 mg·kg⁻¹ after the operation for pain relief, and 0.5 mg·kg⁻¹ before the electrophysiological measurements. The anaesthesia agent was used similarly in all rats. In study II, the animals were made insulin deficient by injecting intraperitoneally 65 mg kg⁻¹ streptozotocin dissolved in 0.05 M citrate buffer. Controls were injected with the citrate buffer only. The rats were randomized into different experimental groups at the beginning of the experiments. In studies II, IV and V 8-10 animals per group were used. In study III, the immobilized groups consisted of 7-10 animals and the number of controls per group was 6-8. For electrophysiological measurements (study V), 15 rats were used.

4.2 Human subjects

In study I, 14 patients, 13 males and one female, with rupture of the anterior cruciate ligament were studied before and 6 weeks after postoperative leg immobilization following knee ligament reconstruction. The nature, purpose and potential risks of the study were explained to the subjects before they gave their voluntary informed consent to participate. The study protocol was approved by the ethical committee of Oulu University Hospital.

In study VI, 9 male students in physical education with a sports training background volunteered as subjects. During the experiment they were healthy having no musculoskeletal injuries. They were not allowed to use any medication or alcohol for three days before the study. A written informed consent was obtained in all cases.

4.3 Immobilization and remobilization

In study I, half of the patients were immobilized with conventional cast so that the knee joint was fixed at 20° flexion. The other half used functional derotation-braces allowing a motion of 30-70°. The immobilization time was six weeks.

In studies III and IV, the right hindlimb of the rat was immobilized with plaster of Paris, so that the ankle joint was in a full plantar flexion (150-160^o angle). Thus, the soleus muscle and Achilles tendon were immobilized in the shortened position, and tibialis anterior muscle and tendon in the lengthened position. Immobilization periods of three days (III), one week (III, IV) and six weeks (III) were used. The casts were changed weekly. During remobilization (III, IV), the rats were allowed to move freely in their cages. Remobilization times of 3, 7 and 14 days (III, IV) were used.

4.4 Denervation and reinnervation

Denervation of the crural muscles of the rat right leg (study V) was produced by crushing the sciatic nerve in the gluteal region with small forceps. The controls were sham-operated. Postoperatively, the animals were allowed to move freely in their cages. Time periods of 19, 26, 40 and 61 days were allowed for spontaneous reinnervation process to occur.

4.5 Streptozotocin-induced diabetes and exercise

In study II, the rats were made insulin deficient by streptozotocin-injections (Kainulainen et al. 1994). Induction of diabetes was confirmed 3 days later from urinary glucose levels. Blood glucose and plasma insulin levels were also measured after the experimental period (see the assays section). After this, the rats were subjected to running on a motor-driven treadmill. The animals trained five days a week for 12-16 weeks (Table 1 in study II). Running time and speed as well as the inclination of the tracks were gradually increased during the first seven weeks of the training. The total running distance was 61-93 km per animal.

4.6 Other exercise studies

In study IV, a single bout of exercise was used. The rats ran on a motor-driven treadmill for 3-5 hours. The speed was 16 m·min⁻¹ and the inclination of the tracks 8° uphill. The rats ran until exhaustion, to the point after which they refused to run. Only those rats that ran a minimum of 3 h, were included (76% of the rats). After every hour, there was a 15-min pause during which the rats could freely eat and drink. The average running distance was 3648 m (2880-4800 m). After the exertion, the rats lived for 2, 5 or 10 days under normal cage conditions, as did the sedentary controls.

In study VI, after warming-up the subjects performed three countermovement jumps on a Kistler force-platform with a 20 s time-interval (Viitasalo and Bosco 1982). The force-time signal was used for determination of the average eccentric and concentric ground reaction forces, total contact time, and flight time. The countermovement jumps were followed by three isometric maximal bilateral lower limb extensions on a dynamometer with a 20 s time-interval. Maximal strength was measured in a sitting position with hip, knee, and ankle angles of 120°, 107°, and 90°, respectively. Then a fatigue loading of 50 maximal concentric successive bilateral lower limb extensions was performed on the dynamometer, which limited the knee motion to an angle range of 60-170°. This was followed by three isometric extensions and three countermovement jumps like before the fatigue loading.

4.7 Electrophysiology

In study V, the amplitude and the conduction time (latency) of the nervestimulated response and the electromyogram (EMG) were measured from the muscles of the operated leg 3, 7, 14, 19, 21, 28, 35, 42 and 63 days after the nerve crush. Two monopolar needle electrodes were placed on the sciatic nerve for stimulation and, for recording, a concentric needle electrode was inserted in the muscle studied.

In study VI, the EMG activity of the subject's muscles was recorded by bipolar miniature surface electrodes. The EMG signals were presented for the eccentric and concentric parts of the vertical jumps for the isometric maximal strength as maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) as well as for each concentric fatigue contraction.

4.8 Blood samples and analyses

In study II, the rats were anaesthetized and aortic blood samples were taken, after which the animals were killed. Blood glucose concentration was measured by a commercial kit (Merck GmbH, Germany) and plasma insulin concentration by Rat Insulin RIA (Novo Nordisk a/s, Denmark).

In study VI, venous blood samples of the subjects were taken before and immediately after the exercise as well as 1 and 2 h and 1, 2, 3 and 4 days after the exercise. Blood lactate was analyzed by an electrochemical enzymatic method (Lactate analyzer 640, Roche) from a sample taken from the fingertip immediately after the exercise. Serum was separated by centrifugation (twice for 10 min at 3000 g) after 30 min of clotting in an ice bath. Serum samples were stored at -20°C.

4.9 Muscle samples

The rats were killed by decapitation (II, III, IV, V). The gastrocnemius (II, V), soleus (III, V), tibialis anterior (III, V), rectus femoris (II) and vastus lateralis (II) muscles and the Achilles (IV) and tibialis anterior (IV) tendons were excised. The muscles were dissected, saving the epimysium, and weighed. The samples for biochemical analyses were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70°C until analyzed.

In the human studies I and VI, muscle biopsies were obtained. In study I, biopsies from vastus medialis of the operated leg were taken before and 6 weeks after the surgery. In study IV, biopsies were obtained from vastus lateralis 2 weeks after the exercise. The biopsies were frozen in liquid nitrogen (I) or in isopentane precooled with liquid nitrogen (VI) and stored at -70°C (I) or -80°C (VI).

4.10 Biochemical assays

4.10.1 Tissue preparation

The muscle (I, II, III, V) and tendon (IV) samples were separately homogenized with an Ultra-Turrax homogenizer in two (muscle) or six (tendon) bursts of 5 s in a cold solution containing 0.2 M NaCl, 0.1% (w/v; muscle) or 0.5% (w/v; tendon) Triton X-100, 0.01% (w/v) soybean trypsin inhibitor, 0.1 M glycine, 50 μ M dithiotreitol and 0.2 M Tris-HCl buffer, pH adjusted to 7.5 at 4 °C (6-10%, w/v). The homogenates were centrifuged at 15000 (muscle) or 11000 (tendon) × g for 30 (muscle) or 20 (tendon) min at 4 °C. The supernatants were taken for the assays of CA III concentration (I, II), myoglobin concentration (I) and the enzyme activities of PH (III, IV, V), GGT (III, IV, V), CS (II) and PGK (II) as well as protein concentrations (I-V). Pellets were used for Hyp analysis (III, IV, V). The biochemical values are given per gram of soluble (supernatant) protein.

For total RNA isolation (II), individual frozen weighed muscle samples were homogenized with Ultra-Turrax in 1 ml of Trizol reagent (Gibco, USA) per 50-100 mg of tissue. The steps of the isolation were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions.

4.10.2 CA III and myoglobin concentrations

In study I, radioimmunoassay was used to measure CA III concentration in human muscle as previously described (Väänänen et al. 1986a). In study II, CA III concentration in rat muscle was measured with time-resolved fluoroimmunoassay in which Eu³⁺ -labelled rat CA III was used as antigen. The method was essentially the same as that described for human serum (Vuori et al. 1991). Myoglobin concentration (I) was analyzed radioimmunologically using commercial kit (Cis, France).

4.10.3 Northern and slot blot analysis

In study II, for the RNA Northern and slot blot analyses, the total RNAs were transferred to a nylon or to a nitrocellulose filter, respectively, following the standard procedures (Chomczynski and Mackey 1994). The complementary DNA (cDNA) probe for CA III (Kelly et al. 1988) was labelled with commercial random primer [α -³²P] dCTP labelling kit (Pharmacia, Sweden). The membranes were prehybridized for 1 h after which the radioactive probe was added, and then hybridized for 24 h. After hybridization the filters were washed and exposed to X-ray films at -70°C. The autoradiographs generated by the Northern and slot blots were scanned with a densitometer (Molecular Dynamics, USA). The hybridization signals for CA III mRNA were normalized to that of 18S ribosomal RNA for each sample to correct for potential differences in loading and/or transfer.
4.10.4 PH and GGT enzyme activities, and Hyp concentration

The assay of PH (III, IV, V) was based on measurement of the labelled Hyp formed from the peptide-bound prolyl residues of the unhydroxylated labelled procollagen substrate (Kivirikko and Myllylä 1982a). GGT activity was assayed by determining the amount of radioactive glucosylgalactosylhydroxylysine formed in a heat-denatured gelatinized calf skin collagen substrate, as described by Myllylä et al. (1975). Hyp content was measured according to the method of Kivirikko et al. (1967) after hydrolysis for 16 hours in 6 M HCl at 120 °C.

4.10.5 Citrate synthase and phosphoglycerate kinase enzyme activities and protein contents

In study II, the activity of citrate synthase (CS) was determined according to Srere (1969) and the activity of phosphoglycerate kinase (PGK) according to Bucher (1955). Protein contents were assayed by the method of Bradford (1976) in studies I-V. The ratio of supernatant protein to muscle wet weight was constant throughout the experiments.

4.10.6 Serum analyses

Serum CA III and myoglobin (VI) were measured by a dual-label time-resolved fluoroimmunoassay (Vuori et al. 1991) based on competition between Eu³⁺ - or Sm^{3+} -labeled antigen and the sample antigen for polyclonal rabbit antibodies. Creatine kinase was measured according to the Recommendations of The Scandinavian Enzyme Committee (1978). The concentrations of Pro(I)-C-P and Pro(III)-N-P were determined with the use of commercial radioimmunoassay kits from Farmos Diagnostica (Oulunsalo, Finland) using polyclonal antibodies. GGT was assayed by the method of Myllylä et al. (1975) as modified for serum samples (Anttinen 1977). This method is based on the transfer of (¹⁴C)glucose from UDP-(¹⁴C)glucose (Radiochemical Centre, Amersham, UK) to galactosylhydroxylysyl residues in denatured collagen substrate, and an assay of radioactivity in the (¹⁴C)glucosylgalactosylhydroxylysine liberated by alkaline hydrolysis and purified further by a brief ion-exchange chromatography. Hyp was measured according to Kivirikko et al. (1967). The assays of serum testosterone and cortisol were performed by radioimmunoassays using reagent kits from Farmos Diagnostica (Turku and Oulunsalo, Finland).

4.11 Enzyme histochemistry

In study VI, serial transverse cryostat sections of muscle were stained for adenocine triphosphatase (Padykula and Herman 1955) for identification of type I and type II muscle fibers and for calculation of the percentage distribution of the fiber types (Väänänen et al. 1985).

4.12 Computed tomography

In study I, the atrophy of the human muscle was monitored by computed tomography (Somatom 2, Siemens, Germany). The cross-sectional area of the medial part of m. quadriceps femoris consisting of m. vastus medialis and a part of m. intermedius (Fig. 1 in study I) was estimated immediately after the knee ligament reconstruction operation and six weeks later.

4.13 Statistical analyses

Statistical evaluation of the results was performed using one-way (V) or twoway (II) analysis of variance or the randomized block design of variance analysis with repeated-measures statistical procedure (VI). Comparisons between two specific groups were determined by Student's t-test (I, III, V), by Wilcoxon rank sum test (II) or signed-ranks test (IV, VI). Correlation was analyzed with Spearman's rank correlation test (VI).

5 RESULTS

5.1 Effects of immobilization (I, III, IV) and subsequent remobilization (III, IV) on skeletal muscle and tendon

5.1.1 Weight parameters and estimation of muscle atrophy by CT (I, III, IV)

The body weights of the casted rats (III, IV) were 2% (NS), 6% (p<0.05) and 12% (p<0.001) lower than those of their respective controls after 3, 7 and 42 days of immobilization, respectively. The wet weight of the soleus muscle immobilized in shortened position was 22% (p<0.001), 40-42% (p<0.001) and 63% (p<0.001) below the control and contralateral values after 3, 7 and 42 days of immobilization, respectively. The weight of the tibialis anterior muscle immobilized in lengthened position was 12-18% less (p<0.001) than that of the control and contralateral values after 7 days of immobilization.

After 1 week of immobilization and subsequent 3 days of remobilization (III, IV) the body weight was still 8% (p<0.05) below the control level but after 7 and 14 days of remobilization (III, IV) there was no significant difference compared with the controls. The weights of soleus and tibialis anterior were still 12-15% (p<0.01) and 7-8% (p<0.01), respectively, below the control and contralateral values after 14 days of remobilization. In study I, immobilization of knee joint either with cast or with brace for 6 weeks caused a 38% decrease (p<0.001) in the cross-sectional area of the medial part of m. quadriceps femoris.

5.1.2 CA III and myoglobin concentration in skeletal muscle (I)

The specific concentrations of CA III and myoblobin (Fig. 1) remained unaltered after the immobilization of knee joint for 6 weeks, but the concentrations per the cross-sectional area of the medial part of m. quadriceps femoris decreased by 37% (CA III) and 31% (myoglobin).



FIGURE 1 Human leg carbonic anhydrase III (CA III) (left) (a) specific concentration and (b) concentration multiplied with muscle cross-sectional area; and myoglobin (right) (c) specific concentration and (d) concentration multiplied with muscle cross-sectional area, expressed as % of control before and 6 weeks after postoperative immobilization in vastus medialis muscle in 13 patients. The results are means, SE. Statistical significance: **p <0.01, ***p<0.001.</p>

5.1.3 PH and GGT enzyme activities, and Hyp concentration in skeletal muscle (III)

The specific activity of PH in the shortened soleus muscle (Fig. 2) decreased by 47-53% (p<0.01) after 1 week of immobilization compared with the contralateral side and the control group. After 3 days of remobilization, the PH activity increased 32% (p<0.05) above the control values and remained thereafter above the controls. The specific activity of PH in the lengthened tibialis anterior muscle (Fig. 3) increased by 44% (p<0.05) after the immobilization. It decreased gradually during remobilization and was on the control level after 7 days of remobilization.

The specific activity of GGT in the shortened soleus (Fig. 2) was 23% (p<0.001) below the control values after 1 week of immobilization. It increased rapidly during the early phases of remobilization. The activity was 42% (p<0.001) and 135 (p<0.001) above the control values after 3 and 7 days of remobilization, respectively, but reached the control level after 2 weeks. In the lengthened tibialis anterior, the GGT specific activity (Fig. 3) was increased by 84% (p<0.001) after the immobilization and stayed above the control level during the remobilization period of 14 days.

The specific concentration of Hyp in supernatant (soluble collagen) appeared to decrease after immobilization in the shortened soleus muscle (Fig. 2) by 12-18% compared with the contralateral and control groups, but the

changes were not significant. After 3 days of remobilization, the concentration was increased being 15-22% (p<0.05) above the contralateral and contol levels. After 2 weeks of remobilization, the concentration was 17% (p<0.05) above the contralateral level. The total soluble collagen content was significantly decreased (27%, p<0.01) in soleus after immobilization, but reached the control level after 3 days remobilization. In the lengthened tibialis anterior muscle, the soluble collagen concentration (Fig. 3) was 17% (p<0.05) above the control level after immobilization, but thereafter it was on the control level. The total soluble collagen content was slightly and transiently below the controls during the remobilization period.

The Hyp concentration in pellet (insoluble collagen) was 41-47% (p<0.001) above the contralateral and control levels in the soleus muscle after immobilization. It decreased gradually reaching the control level after 7 days of remobilization. There was no change in the total insoluble Hyp content in soleus. The insoluble Hyp concentration in the tibialis anterior remained unchanged. In the total insoluble Hyp of tibialis anterior, a slight transient decrease was observed during the remobilization when compared to the control group, but not when compared to the contralateral values. The concentration of the insoluble collagen was approximately ten times the concentration of the soluble collagen.



Soleus muscle

FIGURE 2 Effects of 7 days of immobilization (0 days) combined with 3, 7 or 14 days of remobilization on the specific activities of prolyl 4-hydroxylase (PH), galactosylhydroxylysyl glucosyltransferase (GGT) and soluble hydroxyproline (Hyp) concentration in rat soleus muscle. The differences in activities and concentrations from controls, which represent the zero level, are expressed as percentages. The results are means±SE. Statistical significance: *p (vs. control) <0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

Tibialis anterior muscle



FIGURE 3 Effects of 7 days of immobilization (0 days) combined with 3, 7 or 14 days of remobilization on the specific activities of prolyl 4-hydroxylase (PH), galactosylhydroxylysyl glucosyltransferase (GGT) and soluble hydroxyproline (Hyp) concentration in rat tibialis anterior muscle. The activities and concentrations are expressed as percentages of control, which is equal to the zero level. The results are means±SE. Statistical significance: *p (vs. control)<0.05, **p<0.01,***p<0.001.

5.1.4 PH and GGT enzyme activities, and Hyp concentration in tendon (IV)

The specific activity of PH in the Achilles tendon immobilized in shortened position was decreased by 23-25% (p<0.05) after 1 week of immobilization compared to the contralateral and control levels. During remobilization, the activity increased gradually being 46% (p<0.01) above the control level after 14 days. The activity in the lengthened tibialis anterior tendon was decreased by 54% (p<0.01) after the immobilization. During remobilization, the activity increased gradually reaching the control level after 7 days.

The specific GGT activity in the shortened Achilles tendon was decreased by 23% (p<0.05) after 1 week of immobilization compared with the contralateral level. The activity increased rapidly being 53% (p<0.01) above the control values after 3 days of remobilization. After this, the activity decreased gradually being 30% (p<0.05) and 18% (NS) above the control and contralateral activities, respectively, after 7 days of remobilization. After 14 days, the value reached the control level. In the lengthened tibialis anterior -tendon, the specific GGT activity was 28% (p<0.05) below the control values after the immobilization. The activity increased rapidly being 55-60% (p<0.001) above the controls after 3 and 7 days of remobilization. After 14 days, the activity was still 24% (p<0.05) above the control values.

There were no significant changes in the Hyp concentration in either of the tendons after the 1 week's immobilization period. In tibialis anterior tendon, a slight and transient decrease in the concentration was observed during

remobilization. Similar results were obtained also when the Hyp concentration was calculated per soluble protein.

5.2 Effects of denervation and reinnervation on rat skeletal muscle (V)

5.2.1 Weight parameters

The body weights of the denervated rats increased evenly and did not differ from the controls at any time point. The wet weights of the gastrocnemius, soleus and tibialis anterior muscles were 52, 46 and 57% below the control values (p<0.001), respectively, 19 days after the nerve crush. After 26 days, the weights were 49, 31 and 48% below the controls (p<0.001), after 40 days, 33 (p<0.001), 22 (p<0.01) and 35% (p<0.01) and after 61 days, 19 (p<0.001), 16 (p<0.01) and 19% (p<0.01) below the control values, respectively.

5.2.2 Electrophysiology

Nerve conduction to the muscles was strongly decreased after the nerve crush. The electrical responses did not differ whether stimulated proximal or distal to the site of crush. In gastrocnemius and soleus muscles the amplitudes of the responses were 80% lower than the control values 3 days after the nerve crush. In gastrocnemius, the amplitude started to increase strongly 14 days after the crush and had reached the control level when measured 63 days postcrush. In soleus, the increase began after 19 days reaching the control value 63 days postcrush. In tibialis anterior the amplitude of the response was 93% lower than the control value till 14 days postcrush, increased thereafter and reached the controls 63 days after the crush.

The conduction latencies were prolonged after the operation. They returned slowly, but did not reach the control values during the time the measurements were done. The latencies of tibialis anterior muscle were more delayed than those of gastrocnemius or soleus muscle during the period. Fibrillations and positive monophasic potentials were seen during the early phases of reinnervation in all three muscles. They diminished slowly and were lost 21 days after the crush in gastrocnemius and 28 days after it in soleus and tibialis anterior muscles.

5.2.3 PH and GGT enzyme activities, and Hyp concentration

The enzyme activities are expressed per amount of collagen, but the difference in the relative changes to the activities per soluble protein which was used in the study of Savolainen et al. (1988b) is very small, which was verified by using both calculations here (not shown). Specific PH activity in the gastrocnemius (Fig. 4) was 196% higher (p<0.001) than in the controls 19 days after the nerve crush and decreased towards the control levels during reinnervation. The activity was 43% (p<0.05) above controls after 40 days, and reached the control level after 61 days. In soleus (Fig. 5) and tibialis anterior (Fig. 6), the PH activity, when measured per the amount of collagen, did not differ significantly from the controls. When calculated per muscle soluble protein, however, the PH activity of tibialis anterior was elevated: 70% (p<0.01), 77% (p<0.001) and 97% (p<0.05) above the controls after 19, 26 and 40 days, respectively.

Specific GGT activity was above the control levels in denervated gastrocnemius (Fig. 4) and soleus (Fig. 5) and decreased gradually during reinnervation. In gastrocnemius the activity was 126% (p<0.001) above the control level 19 days after the nerve crush. In soleus the activities were 91% (p<0.001) and 65% (p<0.001) above the controls after 19 and 26 days, respectively. In tibialis anterior (Fig. 6) the activity was below the control level 19 days after the onset of denervation being 92% (p<0.05) lower than the control values.

Hyp concentration in gastrocnemius (Fig. 4) was elevated during reinnervation: 113% (p<0.05) and 37% (p<0.05) above the control level 26 and 61 days after the nerve crush, respectively. In soleus (Fig. 5), the concentration did not differ from the controls. In tibialis anterior (Fig. 6), the concentration was above controls till 40 days after the crushing of the nerve and reached the control value after 61 days.



Gastrocnemius muscle

FIGURE 4 Effects of reinnervation 19, 26, 40 and 61 days after crush denervation of sciatic nerve on prolyl 4-hydroxylase (PH), galactosylhydroxylysyl glucosyltransferase (GGT) and hydroxyproline (Hyp) concentration in rat gastrocnemius muscle. The activities and concentrations are expressed as percentages of control, which is equal to the zero level. The results are means±SE. Statistical significance: *p (vs. control) <0.05, ***p <0.001.



FIGURE 5 Effects of reinnervation 19, 26, 40 and 61 days after crush denervation of sciatic nerve on prolyl 4-hydroxylase (PH), galactosylhydroxylysyl glucosyltransferase (GGT) and hydroxyproline (Hyp) concentration in rat soleus muscle. The activities and concentrations are expressed as percentages of control, which is equal to the zero level. The results are means±SE. Statistical significance: ***p (vs. control)<0.001.



Tibialis anterior muscle

FIGURE 6 Effects of reinnervation 19, 26, 40 and 61 days after crush denervation of sciatic nerve on prolyl 4-hydroxylase (PH), galactosylhydroxylysyl glucosyltransferase (GGT) and hydroxyproline (Hyp) concentration in rat tibialis anterior muscle. The activities and concentrations are expressed as percentages of control, which is equal to the zero level. The results are means±SE. Statistical significance: *p (vs. control) <0.05, **p<0.01.

5.3 Effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes, training and their combination on rat skeletal muscle (II)

5.3.1 Weight parameters

The body weights of the diabetic sedentary and diabetic trained groups were 37% and 30%, respectively, lower than the body weights of the respective control groups (p<0.001). The weights of the trained group appeared to be slightly (8%) below those of the sedentary controls (p<0.05), but no significant difference in the body weights was found between the diabetic trained and diabetic sedentary animals. The weights of the gastrocnemius, vastus lateralis and rectus femoris muscles were lower in the diabetic groups than in the non-diabetic animals (p<0.001). The absolute muscle mass was 49-51% (p<0.001) lower in the sedentary diabetic group than in the sedentary controls. In gastrocnemius, training increased the muscle weight in diabetic animals (p<0.05).

5.3.2 CA III expression at protein and mRNA levels

In diabetic rats, the specific CA III concentration (Fig. 7a) was elevated by 73% (p<0.01), 417% (p<0.05) and 131% (NS) compared with the controls in rectus femoris, vastus lateralis and gastrocnemius muscles, respectively. Training also increased the CA III concentration in all muscles, but the increase was significant only in vastus lateralis (240%, p<0.05). In the diabetic trained rats, the concentration was above the control level in all muscles, the increase being significant in rectus femoris (88%, p<0.01). At the mRNA level (Fig. 7b), the effect of diabetes on CA III expression was qualitatively similar to the effect at the protein level in gastrocnemius and vastus lateralis muscles being significant in gastrocnemius. In diabetic sedentary rats, CA III mRNA was elevated by 88% (p<0.01) and in diabetic trained rats by 70% (p<0.01) in gastrocnemius.

5.3.3 Citrate synthase and phosphoglycerate kinase

Training increased the specific citrate synthase activity by 131% (p<0.01) and 138% (p<0.01) in vastus lateralis and gastrocnemius muscles, respectively. In the trained diabetic rats (DT), the activity was 126% (p<0.05) and 174% (p<0.05) higher than in controls; and 133% (p<0.05) and 240% (p<0.05) higher than in the sedentary diabetic rats in vastus lateralis and gastrocnemius, respectively.

The specific phosphoglycerate kinase activity was slightly increased (by 20%, p<0.05) in the vastus lateralis muscle of the diabetic rats. Training decreased the activity by 17% (p<0.05) in rectus femoris. In the trained diabetic group, the activity was decreased by 16% (p<0.05) and 11% (p<0.01) in rectus femoris and vastus lateralis muscles, respectively. In vastus lateralis the activity was still lower in the diabetic trained group than in the trained group (p<0.05).



FIGURE 7 The effects of diabetes, physical training and their combination on (a) the specific carbonic anhydrase III (CA III) concentration and (b) the CA III mRNA, expressed as % of control in the gastrocnemius (GM), vastus lateralis (VL) and rectus femoris (RF) muscles of rat. The results are means, SE from 8-10 animals; (C) control, (D) diabetic, (T) trained, (DT) diabetic trained; *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

5.4 Effects of a single bout of exhaustive exercise on collagen synthesis in skeletal muscle and tendon (IV)

A single bout of treadmill running for 3-5 h caused an increase of 52% (p<0.05) in the specific activity of PH in the soleus muscle on the second day after the exercise. The activity remained elevated also thereafter until the 20th day after the exercise, but the differences from the initial value were not statistically significant. Changes in the specific activity of PH in the tibialis anterior muscle were not significant. There were also no significant changes in the concentration of Hyp in the soleus and tibialis anterior muscles. In Achilles tendon the specific PH and GGT activities as well as Hyp concentration were constant throughout the experiment.

5.5 Effects of concentric exercise on serum muscle and collagen markers (VI)

The area of type II fibers in the vastus lateralis muscle of the subjects was $56\pm5\%$ (mean \pm SE). The isometric maximal strength decreased 12.8% (p<0.01) and concentric strength 9.1% (p<0.05) due to the 50 fatigue contractions. No statistically significant changes were seen in the EMG parameters or in the vertical jumping height and its ground reaction forces or in contact time between the preand post-loading measurements. The serum testosterone concentration was elevated by 17% (p<0.01) immediately after the exercise, but decreased to the initial level in 1 hour. There was no change in the cortisol concentration.

Serum CA III (S-CA III) increased after the exercise being 57% (p<0.05) above the initial value after 2 hours, and started to decrease thereafter. S-Mb increased markedly after the loading being 138% (p<0.01) and 143% (p<0.01) above the initial value 1 and 2 hours after the exercise, respectively. The initial value was reached after 1 day. The Δ S-CA III/ Δ S-Mb -ratio, when calculated for the maximal increase 2 hours after the exercise, was 0.53±0.11. S-CK increased after the exercise being 9% (p<0.01), 15% (p<0.01) and 21% (p<0.01) above the initial level 0, 1 and 2 hours after the exercise, respectively. The value started to decrease after 3 days.

S-Pro(I)-C-P initial value decreased by 5% (p<0.05) 1 hour after the exercise. A day afterwards the value started to increase, being 5% (p<0.05) and 11% above the initial value, 2 and 4 days after the exercise, respectively. In S-Pro(III)-N-P, no significant changes due to the exercise were seen. S-GGT was elevated immediately and 3 days after the exercise by 17% (p<0.05) and 24% (p<0.05), respectively. In S-Hyp no significant changes were seen.

Correlations between the various parameters were calculated. The incease in S-Mb showed a correlation to the fiber type II % (p<0.05), and S-CK (p<0.05) 2 hours after the exercise, and to the maximal decrease in S-Pro(I)-C-P (p<0.001) 1 hour after the exercise. Also the change in S-Mb correlated to the decrease in S-Pro(I)-C-P (p<0.01). The increase in S-Pro(I)-C-P 2 days after the exercise correlated to the increase in S-CK immediately (p<0.01) and 1 hour after the exercise (p<0.01). The serum lactic acid concentration showed a negative correlation to the change in maximal isometric force and in flying time of the jumps (p<0.05).

6 DISCUSSION

6.1 Effects of immobilization and subsequent remobilization on skeletal muscle and tendon

6.1.1 Weight parameters

Cast immobilization in itself induces muscle atrophy without causing any actual nerve lesions. Immobilization-induced disuse atrophy is known to involve both slower protein synthesis and faster protein degradation (Goldspink 1977, Appell 1990) and is known to vary between muscles (Booth and Kelso 1973b, Herbison et al. 1978, Ingemann-Hansen and Halkjaer-Kristensen 1980). Here, the responses to cast- immobilization and brace in human vastus medialis muscle (I), and the responses to cast-immobilization and subsequent remobilization in rat soleus and tibialis anterior muscles (III) were followed. The atrophy of the vastus medialis was estimated from the cross-sectional area of the medial part of the quadriceps femoris muscle. Since there exists no apparent septum between the vastus medialis and intermedius muscles in a CT scan, a straight line was continued from the septum between the vastus medialis and rectus femoris muscles to the femoral bone in the crosssectional image of the thigh. This means that the measured cross-sectional area may, in addition to vastus medialis, include part of the intermedius muscle, but this is the only way to determine the atrophy of vastus medialis from an image. Significant atrophy was evident. To eliminate the effect of the concomitant oedema after surgery, the contralateral thigh was taken to represent the zero point results. In principle, the effect of alteration in water content cannot be excluded when determining atrophy from the wet weights of the muscles either. In study III, the soleus immobilized in shortened position was observed to atrophy more than the tibialis anterior immobilized in lengthened position. This is in agreement with previous findings (Savolainen et al. 1987, 1988a, 1988b, Laurila et al. 1991, Laurila et al., submitted) and is due both to the great

sensitivity of the antigravity muscles, and of the crural muscles especially soleus, to disuse and to the immobilization position. Muscle stretch is an important determinant of the muscular protein balance. Immobilization in shortened position leads to a rapid loss of muscle mass whereas immobilization in lengthened position either attenuates or prevents muscle atrophy. In some cases the lengthened position may even produce hypertrophy (Booth et al. 1996). In this study the weight of the immobilized tibialis anterior muscle was observed to decrease but not as much as that of the soleus which is in accordance with previous studies (Savolainen et al. 1987, 1988a, 1988b, Laurila et al. 1991, Laurila et al, submitted). The body weights of the casted rats were also slightly decreased, which may be caused by stress, as also noted earlier (Savolainen et al. 1987, Laurila et al. 1991, Laurila et al., submitted). It is possible that increased levels of glucocorticoids may contribute to the negative protein balance and muscle atrophy during immobilization.

During remobilization, the body weights of the rats reached the control level after one week. The same recovery time has also been found to apply to an immobilization period of three weeks (Laurila et al., submitted). Muscle weights are relatively slow to recover, the time required being dependent on the duration of immobilization. The weights of the soleus and tibialis anterior did not reach the control level after a two weeks follow-up in this study. After three weeks of immobilization, the muscle weights have been shown to remain below the control level even after a nine-week follow-up period (Laurila et al., submitted).

6.1.2 CA III expression

The CA III concentration did not change during immobilization in the human vastus medialis muscle, the superficial part of which consists mainly of type II fibers (56% according to Johnson et al. 1973). The degree of stretch has been shown to affect the expression of CA III during immobilization. In rat, the concentration of CA III was increased significantly in the fast tibialis anterior muscle (95-99% type II fibers according to Armstrong and Laughlin 1983, Armstrong and Phelps 1984) immobilized in stretched position for three weeks (Laurila et al. 1991, Laurila et al., submitted). This is due to an increase in the number of CA III -positive fibers. According to ATP-ase staining, a fiber type shift from type IIb to IIa occurred in the tibialis anterior (Laurila et al. 1991, Laurila et al., submitted). Also, CA III mRNA has been reported to increase in rat fast plantaris muscle (91-93% type II fibers according to Armstrong and Laughlin 1983, Armstrong and Phelps 1984) when immobilized in stretched position (Brownson and Loughna 1996). Reversal of the immobilizationinduced change seems to be slow; in the study of Laurila et al. (submitted), the elevated level of CA III was maintained throughout the nine-week remobilization period. The effects of denervation on fast muscle CA III seem to be very similar to those of immobilization. CA III mRNA is also increased in the tibialis anterior and extensor digitorum longus, another fast-type muscle, after denervation (Carter et al. 1988). According to Jeffery et al. (1990), CA III expression is coordinated with slow myosin heavy chain (MHC) expression.

Chronic low frequency nerve stimulation of fast muscle induces the expression of both slow MHC (Staron et al. 1987) and CA III (Gros and Dodgson 1988).

Type II fibers may shift towards a less differentiated state during immobilization (Laurila et al., submitted). It has been shown that in the late prenatal and early postnatal stages all rat muscle fibers contain about equal amounts of CA III (Laurila et al. 1989). It seems that CA III is constitutively expressed in skeletal muscle, and that in adult fast muscle the CA III expression is suppressed by phasic nerve stimulation. An alteration in motoneuron activity, caused by denervation, chronic stimulation or stretch during immobilization, may release the CA III expression in type II fibers. As the normal distribution of CA III expression in fiber types is restored very slowly during remobilization, other regulatory factors in addition to phasic nerve stimulation may be required to suppress CA III. Some neurotrophic substance(s) present in sciatic nerve extract, as suggested by Milot et al. (1994), may be involved in the down-regulation of CA III.

In slow muscle the changes in CA III immobilized in shortened position, have been shown to be small (Laurila et al. 1991, Laurila et al., submitted). A fiber type shift from type I to type IIa has been observed (Laurila et al. 1991, Laurila et al., submitted). This is in accordance with the literature stating that a decrease in the number of type I fibers occurs during disuse atrophy (Appell 1990). It has been assumed that atrophy and fiber degeneration reflect a secondary reaction to inactivity and its attendant impaired circulation, which particularly affect type I fibers (Appell 1990). In CA III mRNA expression, the change is again in the same direction as in the corresponding protein, i.e. diminishing (Brownson and Loughna 1996).

The myoglobin concentration in this study did not change during immobilization, which differs from the earlier results of Jansson et al. (1988). In that study the concentration in biopsies taken from the lateral portion of the quadriceps femoris increased together with a drop in oxidative enzyme activity. The physiological significance of that result remains indistinct unless the functional significance of increased myoglobin content is to facilitate oxygen extraction, since blood flow in the leg may be reduced during immobilization (Appell 1990). At all events, as both muscle thickness and the concentration of the proteins may change differentially in various parts of the muscle, caution should be exercised when making general conclusions concerning the whole muscle.

6.1.3 Collagen synthesis

Also in collagen biosynthesis, as in CA III expression, the changes caused by immobilization are dependent on the muscle concerned and/or the position the muscle is immobilized in. Specific PH and GGT activities decreased significantly after one week of immobilization in the soleus immobilized in shortened position, whereas in the tibialis anterior immobilized in stretched position, the activities were increased. This is in accordance with previous observations (Savolainen et al. 1988a, 1988b). The down-regulation takes place at the pretranslational level. According to Han et al. (1999b) immobilization

causes a decrease in the mRNA for the PH α -subunit, followed by a decrease in PH activity and mRNA levels for collagen types I and III. Tension is known to be an important positive regulator of collagen biosynthesis (Savolainen et al. 1988a, 1988b) which is also reflected in the fact that the specific activities of PH and GGT, as well as Hyp concentration, are greater in the antigravity soleus muscle, consisting mainly of type I fibers, than in the dorsiflexor tibialis anterior, which is mainly composed of type II fibers and is not tonically active (Kovanen et al. 1984a, Savolainen et al. 1987). Ahtikoski et al. (1997) observed down-regulation of the expression of type I collagen and its posttranslational modificators in the soleus immobilized in shortened position, but the effect was partly prevented by stretch. All this fits with the concept, that force transmitting regulates collagen expression in muscle.

In the tibialis anterior tendon, which was immobilized in lengthened position, a decrease in the specific activities of PH and GGT was observed. This is in accordance with reports in the literature of decreased specific activites in the immobilized tibialis anterior and Achilles tendons (Savolainen et al. 1988b). According to Savolainen et al. (1988b) immobilization in shortened position causes greater decreases in PH and GGT specific activities than immobilization in lengthened position, which may even prevent the decrease.

The adaptation of muscular connective tissue to immobilization is very rapid, the changes in collagen synthetizing enzymes appearing after only three days of immobilization when decreased PH and GGT activities were observed in the soleus muscle. Han et al. (1999b) found a decrease in the mRNA for PH α-subunit in gastrocnemius and plantaris muscles after immobilization for one day and a decrease in PH activity after immobilization for three days. In the present work the PH and GGT activities were also decreased after immobilization for six weeks. The decrease is in accordance with the observed decrease in the concentration of newly synthetized soluble Hyp. The concentration of soluble Hyp was in accordance with PH and GGT activities also in the lengthened tibialis anterior after one week's immobilization; they were all increased. Also during remobilization, the soluble Hyp concentration followed the PH and GGT activities. The changes in soluble Hyp, any more than those in PH and GGT, need not reflect alterations in the rate of collagen deposition, however, because a high proportion of newly synthetized soluble collagen is degraded (Laurent 1987). The concentration of the insoluble Hyp in soleus muscle, in contrast to the soluble Hyp, increased during immobilization. This is obviously caused by a greater net degradation of noncollagenous proteins, as the total muscular Hyp content was unchanged. This is in accordance with other observations of unchanged or slightly decreased total collagen content in muscles after immobilization for one to several weeks (Savolainen et al. 1987, 1988b, Karpakka et al. 1990, Han et al. 1999b). These results are in conformity with the slow rate of collagen synthesis in rat muscles, which is 1.3% /day (Reeds et al. 1980). On the other hand, also increased total muscular collagen contents have been observed in morphometric studies (Jozsa et al. 1990, Lapier et al. 1995, Kannus et al. 1998). A study of the long-term effects of forced muscle contractions on the expression of the basement membrane type IV collagen points to an increase in the collagen concentration and its degradation capacity (Takala et al. 1998).

After removal of the cast, the activities of PH and GGT increased above the control level in soleus in the early phases of remobilization, whereas in tibialis anterior they slowly decreased towards the control levels. After immobilization in shortened position, the cage activity causes to the connective tissue of the soleus both increased static tension, due to the antigravity function of the muscle, and increased transmittance of dynamic forces. In tibialis anterior muscle, which was immobilized in lengthened position, removal of the cast probably resulted in a decrease in the permanent tension, because tibialis anterior is a phasic muscle and is not tonically activated. Remobilization also resulted in a more rapid re-growth of the atrophied soleus than of the atrophied tibialis anterior. According to the literature, rapid muscular growth is accompanied by a high rate of collagen biosynthesis (Turto et al. 1974, Kovanen et al. 1987). In the tibialis anterior, the activities of PH and GGT did not follow the overall protein balance of the muscle during immobilization in the lengthened position and subsequent remobilization. It seems that in tibialis anterior immobilized in lengthened position tension may be a more important acute regulator of collagen biosynthesis than the overall muscular protein balance. No changes in total muscular collagen content were seen in the soleus, probably due to the slow turnover of collagen (Reeds et al. 1980). During immobilization, the changes in the activity of PH were more pronounced than those in GGT, as also stated before (Savolainen et al. 1987, 1988a). However, during remobilization, the situation was the opposite, the changes in GGT activity being greater in both muscles. The same also applied to the tibialis anterior and Achilles tendons. This suggests that collagen glycosylation may be more accelerated than collagen hydroxylation during remobilization, which may promote the cross-linking of collagen (Kivirikko and Myllylä 1982a) and may thus yield collagen fibrils with enhanced stability. According to Kellett (1986), damaged tendons contain a large proportion of type III collagen which is deficient in the number of cross-linkages between and within the tropocollagen subunits. Kannus et al. (1992) suspect that remobilized tendons will not achieve all the biochemical and biomechanical properties of healthy tendons, and that there may be an increased risk of tendinitis and tendon ruptures during postimmobilization activity.

6.2 Effects of denervation and reinnervation process on rat muscle collagen

In this study the effects of denervation and the subsequent reinnervation process were studied in the soleus, tibialis anterior and gastrocnemius muscles of the rat. Both immobilization and denervation are known to cause atrophy in hind limb muscles and fibers, but in different ways. During immobilization, it is mostly the type I fibers of ankle joint plantarflexors that atrophy, whereas the fibers of the dorsiflexors, being mostly of type II, are less responsive to disuse (Edgerton et al. 1975, Savolainen et al. 1987). Following denervation, however, both fiber types atrophy but they are affected differentially in the slow and fast muscles (Jaweed et al. 1975, Niederle and Mayr 1978, Lu et al. 1997). The type I fibers of the rat soleus atrophy as much or slightly more than the type II fibers, whereas the type II fibers of fast type muscles, such as tibialis anterior and gastrocnemius, atrophy significantly more than the type I fibers during the first weeks of denervation atrophy. In this study, denervation was produced by crushing the nerve, which, according to the electrophysiological measurements, resulted in a commencement of the reinnervation process about three weeks after the crush. The time point is in accordance with observations in the literature, where the start of reinnervation has been evaluated from the increase in muscle wet weight (Herbison et al. 1973) or in fiber diameter (Jaweed et al. 1975). In this study, it is possible that the weight of the soleus had started to increase before the first measurement, made 19 days after crushing of the nerve.

During disuse atrophy process without neural damage, the overall protein balance is an important regulator of collagen biosynthesis in skeletal muscle as stated earlier. The activities of the collagen synthetizing enzymes PH and GGT decrease, reflecting the adaptation of muscular collagen biosynthesis to diminished activity or loading of the musculotendinous system. During denervation, however, the activities of the collagen-synthetizing enzymes were elevated despite rapid muscular atrophy in this as in an earlier study where denervation was caused by transection of the sciatic nerve (Savolainen et al. 1988b). When denervated muscles have been immobilized, length-associated changes have been observed in the atrophy process of the muscle the shortened muscles atrophying more than the lengthened ones, but not in the PH, GGT and Hyp responses (Savolainen et al. 1988b). Thus, denervation seems to "uncouple" collagen synthesis from the overall muscular protein synthesis. Accelerated muscular growth normally increases collagen synthesis (Turto et al. 1974, Kovanen et al. 1987) as discussed in the previous chapter. During reinnervation, on the contrary, the rate of collagen synthesis decreases despite muscular growth according to the present study.

The fact that changes in PH activity are generally more pronounced than those in GGT activity in reflecting changes in collagen biosynthesis did not hold good in all the denervated muscles here. In the soleus only GGT was elevated, which is in accordance with the previous denervation experiments of Savolainen et al. (1988b). Greater changes in GGT than in PH activity were also seen during accelerated collagen biosynthesis in the remobilization of muscle and tendon. On the other hand, according to Sawai (1982) the content of glycosylated hydroxylysine decreases during denervation although total muscular collagen increases. The Hyp concentration was elevated during the first weeks of reinnervation, but total muscular Hyp was not, which is in accordance with the previous nerve transection study (Savolainen et al. 1988b). Thus the increase in collagen concentration caused by denervation seems to have occurred only in relation to noncollagenous proteins. It is also possible that the elevated biosynthesis may be associated with increased degradation of the old or the newly synthetized collagen, which may lead to qualitative changes in the intramuscular collagen (Savolainen et al. 1988b). Increases in type I and III collagens in denervated rat skeletal muscles have been observed earlier by immunofluorescence techniques (Salonen et al. 1985). In a recent study, accelerated type IV collagen turnover in the skeletal muscle of patients with spinal cord injuries, was observed (Koskinen et al., submitted).

6.3 Regulation of collagen metabolism

In this study the biochemistry of the adaptive responses of the muscular and tendinous collagen network was studied. The mechanisms for the changes in collagen metabolism in skeletal muscle and tendons are largely unknown. From studies in other tissues it is known that the expression of collagen and other ECM components is regulated by different hormones and growth factors, like transforming growth factor β (TGF- β), and mechanical stretch (Kähäri et al. 1988, Penttinen et al. 1988, McAnulty et al. 1991, Peltonen et al. 1991, Feres-Filho et al. 1995, Alevizopoulos and Mermod 1997). Transforming growth factor β1 (TGF- β 1) bioactivity is known to regulate both the synthesis and degradation of ECM components (Massague 1990). It increases the synthesis of e.g. collagen and fibronectin and of protease inhibitors such as tissue inhibitor of metalloprotease. TGF- β 1 also alters the expression of the integrin class of cell adhesion receptors (Heino 1989, Ignotz 1989). Transmembrane integrins bind collagen and may transmit tension or relaxation signals to the intracellular phosphorylation cascades which govern the gene expression of cells. Han et al. (1999a) recently found increased TGF-\beta1 mRNA in the soleus and quadriceps femoris muscles of rats after a single bout of running exercise. Thus TGF-B1 may be involved in the repair of muscle damage. The gene expression of PH has also been found to be up-regulated by TGF- β 1 in cultured fibroblasts isolated from rat skeletal muscle (Han et al., unpublished).

6.4 Effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes, training and their combination on rat muscle CA III expression

In this study, the effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes, training and their combination on CA III expression at the protein and mRNA levels were studied in the gastrocnemius, vastus lateralis and rectus femoris muscles of the rat. Streptozotocin-induced diabetes caused a pronounced decrease in the body and muscle mass of the rats. Diabetes is known to affect nitrogen metabolism, resulting in loss of protein, particularly from muscle (e.g. Manchester 1970, Grizard et al. 1999). This is due to a lack of insulin, which causes the protein synthesis rate to decrease (Pain and Garlick 1974) and the breakdown to increase (Charlton and Nair 1998). There was also a slight decrease in the body weight gain of the trained non-diabetic rats, which is in accordance with reports in the

literature (Harpur 1980, Moynihan and Ennis 1990). The muscle mass of the trained animals remained at the control level, and in the gastrocnemius of diabetic animals training seemed to partially prevent the decrease in the muscle mass. The exercise used here was probably less strenuous than in some earlier studies, in which reductions in muscle weight after long-term endurance training have been demonstrated (Fitts and Holloszy 1977, Kovanen et al. 1984b, 1987). According to Fitts and Widrick (1996), endurance exercise, when maintained over prolonged periods, may induce atrophy in type I and IIa muscle fibers.

Training caused a considerable increase in the specific activity of citrate synthase in the gastrocnemius and vastus lateralis muscles, indicating that the training was efficient enough to increase the oxidative capacity of these muscles. Streptozotocin-induced diabetes, on the other hand, is known to reduce oxidative enzyme activity in rat skeletal muscle (Ianuzzo et al. 1974, Ianuzzo and Armstrong 1976, Goodyear et al. 1988), an effect that is known to be both dosedependent and fiber type-specific (Ianuzzo and Armstrong 1976, Kainulainen et al. 1994). In the present study, the three muscles assayed consist mainly of type II fibers, the gastrocnemius differing from the other two in that its red part contains more type I fibers than that of the others (Armstrong and Laughlin 1983, Armstrong and Phelps 1984). Here the citrate synthase activity was decreased in gastrocnemius. The glycolytic pathway marker enzyme, phosphoglycerate kinase, was decreased in the trained vastus lateralis and rectus femoris, as observed previously in endurance trained rats (e.g. Holloszy 1975, Harpur 1980).

Both streptozotocin-induced diabetes and aerobic running training independently increased CA III expression in rat skeletal muscle. The specific CA III concentration was markedly elevated in the vastus lateralis muscle of both the diabetic and the trained rats, while slighter changes were observed in the rectus femoris and gastrocnemius muscles. Changes in the mRNA level were qualitatively similar to those in the protein level, which suggests the regulation to be at the pretranslational level. Both treatments are known to increase oxidative stress, thus the present finding of CA III expression may represent an adaptation of skeletal muscle cells to increased oxidative stress. According to the literature, protein S-thiolation/dethiolation is an early cellular response to oxidative stress (Rokutan et al. 1991, Lii et al. 1994, Chai et al. 1994a,b). It has been demostrated that the glutathiolation of CA III, which occurs in vivo and increases during ageing, reversibly regulates its tyrosine phosphatase activity (Cabiscol and Levine 1996). Since this activity is dependent on the cellular redox state, CA III may well have a role in intracellular signalling, particularly in response to oxidative stress. In a recent study, the effect of overexpression of CA III on cellular response to oxidative stress was studied (Räisänen et al. 1999). The results suggested that CA III functions as an oxyradical scavenger and thus protects cells from oxidative damage. The results presented in this study agree with the literature cited in suggesting a role for CA III in an oxidizing environment.

6.5 Effects of concentric exercise on serum muscle and collagen markers

Most exercise types contain both concentric and eccentric as well as weight bearing components, so their effects on musculoskeletal strain and exerciseinduced damage cannot be distinguished. Therefore, in this study, the strain and damage of the musculoskeletal system was measured in a purely concentric exercise model by examining the specific effects of this exercise type on muscle cells and collagen serum markers.

It was observed that the single bout of heavy concentric exercise was strenuous enough to cause protein leakage from muscles, and probably also from the collagen synthetizing cells of the connective tissue. Both the nonspecific muscle markers S-Mb and S-CK and the muscle fiber type I specific S-CA III increased in response to the exercise. CA III was found to be almost as sensitive a marker of exercise-induced leakage from muscle cells as S-Mb, and CK the least sensitive of the three, which is in accordance with previous findings (Takala et al. 1989a). The concentrations of S-CA III and S-Mb peaked simultaneously 2 h after the exercise, as also observed previously (Takala et al. 1989a). S-Mb and S-CA III returned to the reference level more rapidly than did S-CK, which is in accordance with their shorter half-life (Väänänen et al. 1986). The collagen marker S-GGT increased during the exercise, as observed previously after prolonged exercise (Takala et al. 1986, Takala et al. 1989b). The rapid increase is more likely to reflect leakage from collagen synthesizing fibroblasts or osteoblasts than increases in tissue GGT activity and collagen synthesis, which are known to occur a few days later (Myllylä et al. 1986, Takala et al. 1986). The rate of protein release from muscle and other tissues may also depend on lymphatic flow, which has been shown to be increased during exercise (Havas et al. 1997).

The exercise also affected type I collagen production. The serum marker of type I collagen synthesis, S-Pro(I)-C-P, decreased at first, but started to increase two days after the exercise. The site of the altered collagen production cannot be identified with the test used here, but tissue production in the bones is probably reflected, as most type I collagen is found there (Hassager et al. 1991). Since the decrease in S-Pro(I)-C-P correlated with the increase in S-Mb, the strain and damage imposed on the musculoskeletal system could be one reason for the transient decrease in the rate of type I collagen production. The later increase in S-Pro(I)-C-P could reflect increased type I collagen synthesis as an adaptive and/or reparative process in the bones after the exercise. Exercise is known to have a positive effect on bone formation (Lanyon 1987). In rodent muscles, reparative increase in the rate of total collagen synthesis has been observed after a single bout of treadmill running in mice (Myllylä et al. 1986). In addition, increased gene expression for collagens I and III and the enzymes responsible for their posttranslational modifications has been observed after a single bout of strenuous running exercise in rats (Han et al. 1999a). In the present study, there was no increase in the S-Pro(III)-N-P concentration suggesting unchanged type III collagen synthesis (Simon et al. 1988). This is in accordance with previous

investigations (Takala et al. 1986, Takala et al. 1989), and suggests that S-Pro(III)-N-P increases only after very strenuous physical exercise, probably reflecting a repair process. The metabolic fate of the circulating connective tissue -derived marker proteins also contributes to the results. Thus the serum levels of the markers can also reflect changes in the degradation rates of the proteins (Smedsrod 1988, Smedsrod et al. 1990).

7 PRIMARY FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

In the present study, the adaptations of skeletal muscle CA III isoenzyme and collagen, and tendon collagen expression were studied during immobilization and subsequent recovery when remobilization was allowed. The adaptation of skeletal muscle collagen expression was also studied during denervation and the subsequent reinnervation process. The effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes, training and their combination were studied on CA III expression at the mRNA and protein levels. In addition, the effects of concentric exercise were studied on the release of muscle proteins and markers of collagen synthesis.

In addition to the overall muscular protein balance, the degree of muscle stretch during immobilization seemed to be an important regulator of collagen expression in muscle. The specific PH and GGT activities were significantly decreased after one week of immobilization in the soleus muscle immobilized in shortened position, whereas the activities were increased in the tibialis anterior muscle immobilized in stretched position. The adaptation of muscular connective tissue to disuse was relatively rapid, as significant changes in PH and GGT activities were seen already after three days of immobilization in the antigravity soleus muscle. After removal of the cast, the activities of PH and GGT increased above the control level in soleus in the early phases of remobilization, whereas in tibialis anterior they slowly decreased towards the control levels. In tibialis anterior, the activities of PH and GGT did not follow the overall protein balance of the muscle during immobilization in lengthened position and subsequent remobilization, thus tension seemed to be a more important acute regulator of collagen biosynthesis than the overall muscular protein balance. During immobilization, the changes in the activity of PH were more pronounced than those in GGT, whereas during remobilization the situation was the opposite, the changes in the GGT activity being greater in both muscles studied, and also in the tendons. This suggests that during remobilization collagen glycosylation may increase more markedly than collagen hydroxylation, which may in turn be connected with the promotion of the cross-linking of collagen.

In human muscle the specific CA III concentration was unaltered during immobilization, while total CA III decreased to the same extent as the muscle cross-sectional area. This suggests that the net breakdown of CA III occurs at the same rate as the average net degradation of mixed muscle proteins.

Contrary to the situation in disuse atrophy, denervation atrophy was associated with an increased level of collagen biosynthesis. Denervation seems to "uncouple" the regulation of the adaptive responses of muscular collagen biosynthesis from the atrophy process of the muscle as a whole. During the follow-up of the reinnervation process (19 to 61 days from the start of denervation), both the PH and GGT enzyme activities and the Hyp concentration decreased to the control level in spite of accelerated muscular growth. During the reinnervation process, as also during remobilization, the collagen glycosylation capacity increased more markedly than the hydroxylation capacity.

Both streptozotocin-induced diabetes and endurance training on a treadmill independently increased CA III expression at protein and mRNA levels in rat skeletal muscle. Both treatments are known to increase oxidative stress. The present finding that the gene expression of CA III is increased in response to streptozotocin-induced diabetes and endurance training may represent an adaptation of skeletal muscle cells to increased oxidative stress.

A single bout of heavy concentric exercise was shown to cause protein leakage from muscles; serum CA III, Mb and CK were all increased. Changes in the serum markers of collagen synthesis suggest an initial decrease and subsequent increase in type I collagen secretion from the collagen synthetizing cells. The activation of type I collagen secretion seems to depend on the strain and damage of the musculoskeletal system and may represent increased type I collagen synthesis as an adaptive and/or reparative process after the exercise.

The present findings indicate that changes in physical activity and muscle innervation are associated with adaptive responses in the metabolism of the muscular collagen network. The finding that muscular CA III expression is increased in response to experimental diabetes and endurance training may represent an adaptation of skeletal muscle cells to oxidative stress.

8 YHTEENVETO

Tässä tutkimuksessa selvitettiin luustolihaksen CA III:n ja kollageenien ekspressiota sekä kollageenisynteesiä jänteessä immobilisaation ja sen jälkeisen remobilisaation aikana. Lihaskudoksen kollageenisynteesin adaptaatiota tutkittiin myös denervaation ja reinnervaation yhteydessä. Lisäksi selvitettiin kokeellisen streptozotocin-indusoidun diabeteksen ja kestävyysharjoittelun vaikutuksia lihaskudoksen CA III:n ekspressioon sekä korkeaintensiteettisen konsentrisen lihastyön vaikutusta lihassyistä vapautuneiden ja kollageenisynteesin markkeriproteiinien esiintymiseen seerumissa.

Lihaksen atrofian lisäksi lihaksen venytystilan todettiin vaikuttavan lihaksen kollageenisynteesiin immobilisaation aikana. Kollageenia syntetisoivien PH- ja GGT-entsyymien aktiivisuudet laskivat lyhentyneeseen asentoon immobilisoidussa rotan soleus-lihaksessa, kun taas näiden entsyymien aktiivisuudet lisääntyivät venytystilaan immobilisoidussa tibialis anterior -lihaksessa. Kollageenisynteesin adaptaatio immobilisaatioon oli suhteellisen nopea; muutoksia PH- ja GGTentsyymien aktiivisuuksissa havaittiin jo kolmen päivän immobilisaation jälkeen soleus-lihaksessa. Kipsin poiston jälkeisen remobilisaation aikana PH- ja GGT-aktiivisuudet palautuivat vähitellen lähtötasoilleen. Kollageenin synteesissä tapah-tuneet muutokset eivät vaikuttaneet lihaksen kokonaiskollageenin määrään. Akillesjänteessä ja tibialis anterior -jänteessä kollageenisynteesi laski immobilisaation aikana palautuakseen kontrollitasolle kipsin poiston jälkeisen seurannan aikana. Yksittäinen raskas harjoittelukerta puolestaan lisäsi kollageenisynteesiä soleus-lihaksessa, mutta ei akillesjänteessä. Immobilisaation aikana muutokset PH:n aktiivisuudessa olivat suurempia kuin muutokset GGT:n aktiivisuudessa, kun taas immobilisaation jälkeisen liikkeelläolon yhteydessä muutokset olivat suurempia GGT-aktiivisuudessa. Näyttää siltä, että remobilisaation aikana kollageenin glykosylaatiokapasiteetti lisääntyy voimakkaammin kuin kollageenin hydroksylaatiokapasiteetti. CA III -pitoisuus oli ihmisen vastus medialis -lihaksessa lähtötasolla kuuden viikon immobilisaation jälkeen. Lihasatrofiasta johtuen CA III:n kokonaismäärä kuitenkin väheni; nettohajoaminen tapahtui yhtä nopeasti kuin lihaksen totaaliproteiinin väheneminen.

Denervaatioon liittyi lihaksen atrofian lisäksi lisääntynyt kollageenisynteesi ja Hyp-pitoisuus. Reinnervaation seuranta-aikana sekä PH- ja GGT-entsyymiaktiivisuudet että lihaksen Hyp-pitoisuus laskivat kontrollitasolle samanaikaisesti lihaksen painon lisääntymisen kanssa. Lihaksen kollageenisynteesin vasteet immobilisaatioon ja denervaatioon ovat siis erilaisia huolimatta molempiin käsittelyihin liittyvästä lihasatrofiasta. Lihaksen normaali hermotus näyttäisi hillitsevän kollageenisynteesiä lihaksessa. Myöskin reinnervaation samoin kuin remobilisaation aikana kollageenin glykosylaatiokapasiteetti lisääntyi enemmän kuin hydroksylaatiokapasiteetti.

Sekä kokeellisen streptozotocin-indusoidun diabeteksen että kestävyystyyppisen juoksuharjoittelun yhteydessä CA III:n pitoisuus lisääntyi rotan lihaskudoksessa. Lihasharjoittelun ja diabeteksen tiedetään lisäävän vapaiden happiradikaalien muodostusta, ja havainto voi liittyä lihassyiden adaptaatioon lisääntyneeseen oksidatiiviseen stressiin.

Voimakkaan konsentrisen lihastyön havaittiin nostavan ihmisen seerumissa lihassyistä vapautuvien proteiinien kuten CA III:n, myoglobiinin ja kreatiinikinaasin pitoisuuksia. Myös kollageenisynteesin markkeriproteiinien pitoisuudet lisääntyivät. Tyypin I kollageenin synteesin markkerin vapautuminen seerumiin näyttää riippuvan rasituksen tukikudoksissa aiheuttaman vaurion laajuudesta ja voi olla seurausta lisääntyneestä tyyppi I kollageenin synteesistä edustaen adaptiivista ja/tai vaurioita korjaavaa prosessia.

9 REFERENCES

- Adams E and Frank L 1980. Metabolism of proline and the hydroxyprolines. Annu Rev Biochem 49: 1005-1061.
- Ahtikoski AM, Koskinen SOA, Kovanen V, Virtanen P and Takala TES 1997. Regulation of synthesis of type I collagen in skeletal muscle after immobilization: effect of stretch. Med Sci Sports Exerc 29(Suppl.): abstract nr. 650.
- Alevizopoulos A, and Mermod N 1997. Transforming growth factor-beta: the breaking open of a black box. Bioessays 19: 581-591.
- Alford EK, Roy RR, Hodgson JA and Edgerton VR 1987. Electromyography of rat soleus, medial gastrocnemius and tibialis anterior during hindlimb suspension. Exp Neurol 96: 635-649.
- Andersen JL, Mohr T, Biering-Sorensen F, Galbo H and Kjaer M 1996. Myosin heavy chain isoform transformation in single fibers from m. vastus lateralis in spinal cord injured individuals: effect of long-term functional electrical stimulation (FES). Pflügers Arch 431: 513-518.
- Anttinen H 1977. Collagen glucosyltransferase activity in human serum. Clin Chim Acta 77: 323-330.
- Appell H-J 1990. Muscular atrophy following immobilization. Sports Medicine 10: 42-58.
- Ariano MA, Armstrong RB and Edgerton VR 1973. Hindlimb muscle fiber populations of five mammals. J Histochem Cytochem 21: 51-55.
- Armstrong RB and Laughlin MH 1983. Blood flows within and among rat muscles as a function of time during high speed treadmill exercise. J Physiol 344: 189-208.
- Armstrong RB, Ogilvie RW and Schwane JA 1983. Eccentric exercise-induced injury to rat skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol 54: 80-93.
- Armstrong RB and Phelps RO 1984. Muscle fiber type composition of the rat hindlimb. Am J Anat 171: 259-272.
- Armstrong RB 1986. Muscle damage and endurance events. Sports Med 3: 370-381.

- Asayama K, Nakane T, Uchida N, Hayashibe H, Dobashi K and Nakazawa S 1994. Serum antioxidant status in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat. Horm Metab Res 26: 313-315.
- Babij P, and Booth FW 1988. Alpha-actin and cytochrome c mRNAs in atrophied adult rat skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol 254: C651-C656.
- Bailey AJ, Shellswell GB and Duance VC 1979. Identification and change of collagen types in differentiating myoblasts and developing chick muscle. Nature 278: 67-69.
- Baldwin KM, Winder WW, Terjung RL and Holloszy JO 1973. Glycolytic enzymes in different types of skeletal muscle: adaptation to exercise. Am J Physiol 225: 962-966.
- Bashey RI, Martinez-Hernandez A and Jimenez SA 1992. Isolation, characterization and localization of cardiac collagen type VI, association with other extracellular matrix components. Circ Res 70: 1006-1017.
- Bhayana V and Henderson AR 1995. Biochemical markers of myocardial damage. Clin Biochem 28: 1-29.
- Bishop DL and Milton RL 1998. Nimodipine suppresses preferential reinnervation of mouse soleus muscles by slow alpha-motoneurons. Exp Neurol 154: 366-370.
- Booth FV and Kelso JR 1973a. Effect of hindlimb immobilization on contractile andhistochemical properties of skeletal muscle. Pflügers Arch 342: 231-238.
- Booth FW and Kelso JR 1973b. Production of rat muscle atrophy by cast fixation. J Appl Physiol 33: 404-406.
- Booth FV and Seider MJ 1979. Recovery of skeletal muscle after 3 mo of hindlimb immobilization in rats. J Appl Physiol 47: 435-439.
- Booth FV, Lou W, Hamilton MT and Yan Z 1996. Cytochrome c mRNA in skeletal muscles of immobilized limbs. J Appl Physiol 81: 1941-1945.
- Booth FW and Criswell DS 1997. Molecular events underlying skeletal muscle atrophy and the development of effective countermeasures. Int J Sports Med 18: S265-269.
- Bradford MM 1976. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal Biochem 72: 248-254.
- Brennan M 1989. Changes in the cross-linking of collagen from rat tail tendons due to diabetes. J Biol Chem 264: 20953-20960.
- Brownson C and Loughna PT 1996. Alterations in the mRNA levels of two metabolic enzymes in rat skeletal muscle during stretch-induced hypertrophy and disuse atrophy. Pflügers Arch 431: 990-992.
- Bucher T 1955. Phosphoglycerate kinase from brewer's yeast. In Colowick SP and Kaplan NO (eds) Methods in Enzymology, vol 1. Academic Press, New York, p 415-422.
- Buckingham BA, Uitto J, Sandberg C, Keens T, Roe T, Costin G, Kaufman F, Bernstein B, Landing B and Castellano A 1984. Scleroderma-like changes in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: clinical and biochemical studies. Diabetes Care 7: 163-169.

- Buckwalter JA 1996. Effects of early motion on healing of musculoskeletal tissues. Hand Clin 12: 13-24.
- Burnham R, Martin T, Steil R, Bell G, McLean I and Steadward R 1997. Skeletal muscle fiber type transformation following spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 35: 86-91.
- Cabiscol E and Levine RL 1995. Carbonic anhydrase III: oxidative modification *in vivo* and loss of phosphatase activity during aging. J Biol Chem 270: 14742-14747.
- Cabiscol E and Levine RL 1996. The phosphatase activity of carbonic anhydrase III is reversibly regulated by glutathiolation. Proc Natl Acad Sci 93: 4170-4174.
- Calvo S, Stauffer J, Nakayama M and Buonanno A 1996. Transcriptional control of muscle plasticity: differential regulation of troponin I genes by electrical activity. Dev Genet 19: 169-181.
- Carter ND, Jeffery S, Shiels A, Edwards Y, Tipler T and Hopkinson DA 1979. Characterization of human carbonic anhydrase III from skeletal muscle. Biochem Genet 17: 837-854.
- Carter ND, Heath R, Welty RJ, Hewett-Emmett D, Jeffery S, Shiels A and Tashian RE 1984. Red cells genetically deficient in carbonic anhydrase II have elevated levels of carbonic anhydrase indistinguishable from muscle CA III. Ann NY Acad Sci 429: 179-181.
- Carter ND, Wistrand PJ, Isenberg H, Askmark H, Jeffery S, Hopkinson D and Edwards Y 1988. Induction of carbonic anhydrase III mRNA and protein by denervation of rat muscle. Biochem J 256: 147-152.
- Carter ND 1991. Hormonal and neuronal control of carbonic anhydrase III gene expressionin skeletal muscle. In Dodgson SJ, Tashian RE, Gros G and Carter ND (eds) The Carbonic Anhydrases: Cellular Physiology and Molecular Genetics. Plenum, New York, p 247-256.
- Chai Y-C, Jung C-H, Lii C-K, Ashraf SS, Hendrich S, Wolf B, Sies H and Thomas JA 1991. Identification of an abundant S-thiolated rat liver protein as carbonic anhydrase III; characterization of S-thiolation and dethiolation reactions. Arch Biochem Biophys 384: 270-278.
- Chai Y-C, Hendrich S and Thomas JA 1994a. Protein S-thiolation in hepatocytes stimulated by t-butyl hydroperoxide, menadione, and neutrophils. Arch Biochem Biophys 310: 264-272.
- Chai Y-C, Ashraf SS, Rokutan K, Johnston RB and Thomas JA 1994b. S-thiolation of individual human neutrophil proteins including acting by stimulation of the respiratory burst: evidence against a role for glutathione disulfide. Arch Biochem Biophys 310: 273-281.
- Charlton M and Nair KS 1998. Protein metabolism in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Nutr 128: 323S-327S.
- Chiquet M, Matthisson M, Koch M, Tannheimer M and Chiquet-Ehrismann R 1996. Regulation of extracellular matrix synthesis by mechanical stress. Biochem Cell Biol 74: 737-744.
- Chomczynski P 1993. A reagent for the single-step simultaneous isolation of RNA, DNA and proteins from cell and tissue samples. Biotechniques 15: 532-536.
- Chomczynski P and Mackey K 1994. One-hour downward capillary blotting of RNA at neutral pH. Anal Biochem 221: 303-305.

- Cote C, Riverin H, Barras MJ, Tremblay RR, Fremont P and Frenette J 1993. Evidence that carbonic anhydrase can influence the fatigability of type I muscle through an effect on substrate utilization. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 71: 277-283.
- Cote CH, Perreault G and Frenette J 1997. Carbohydrate utilization in rat soleus muscle is influenced by carbonic anhydrase III activity. Am J Physiol 273: R1211-R1218.
- Cotter M, Barry J and Cameron N 1988. Recovery from immobilization-induced atrophy of rabbit soleus muscles can be accelerated by chronic low-frequency stimulation. Quart J Exp Physiol 73: 797-800.
- Crowley S, Trivedi P, Risteli L, Risteli J, Hindmarsh PC and Brook CG 1998. Collagen metabolism and growth in prepubertal children with asthma treated with inhaled steroids. J Pediatr 132: 409-413.
- Cundy T, Bartlett M, Bishop M, Earnshaw M, Smith R and Kanis JA 1983. Plasma hydroxypproline in uremia: Relationships with histologic and biological indices of bone turnover. Metab Bone Dis Relat Res 4: 297-303.
- Davison PF 1982. Tendon. In Weiss B and Jayson MIV (eds) Collagen in Health and Disease. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburg, London, Melbourne, New York, p 498-505.
- Desplanches D 1997. Structural and functional adaptations of skeletal muscle to weightlessness. Int J Sports Med 18: S259-264.
- Dodgson SJ, Tashian RE, Gros G and Carter ND (eds) 1991. The Carbonic Anhydrases: Cellular Physiology and Molecular Genetics. Plenum, New York.
- Dodgson SJ, Quistorff B and Ridderstrale Y 1993. Carbonic anhydrases in cytosol, nucleus, and membranes of rat liver. J Appl Physiol 75: 1186-1193.
- Duance VC, Rostall DJ, Beard H, Bourne FJ and Bailey AJ 1977. The location of three collagen types in skeletal muscle. FEBS Lett 79: 248-252.
- Edgerton VR, Barnard RJ, Peter JB, Maier A and Simpson DR 1975. Properties of immobilized hind-limb muscles of the Galaco senegalensis. Exp Neur 46: 115-131.
- Engberg P, Millqvist E, Pohl G and Lindskog S 1985. Purification and some properties of carbonic anhydrase from bovine skeletal muscle. Arch Biochem Biophys 241: 628-638.
- Eriksson AE and Liljas A 1993. Refined structure of bovine carbonic anhydrase III at 2.0 A resolution. Proteins 16: 29-42.
- Feres-Filho EJ, Choi YJ, Han X, Takala TE and Trackman PC 1995. Pre-and posttranslational regulation of lysyl oxidase by transforming growth factorbeta 1 in osteoblastic MC3T3-E1 cells. J Biol Chem 270: 30797-30803.
- Fitts RH and Holloszy JO 1977. Contractile properties of rat soleus muscle: effects of training and fatigue. Am J Physiol 233: C86-91.
- Fitts RH and Widrick JJ 1996. Muscle mechanics. Adaptations with exercisetraining. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 24: 427-473.
- Foehring RC, Sypert GW and Munson JB 1986. Properties of self-reinnervated motor units of medial gastrocnemius of cat. II. Axotomized motoneurons and time course of recovery. J Neurophysiol 55: 947-965.

- Foidart M, Foidart J-M and Engel WK 1981. Collagen localization in normal and fibrotic human skeletal muscle. Arch Neurol 38: 152-157.
- Frankiewicz-Jozko A, Faff J and Sieradzan-Gabelska B 1996. Changes in concentrations of tissue free radical marker and serum creatine kinase during the post-exercise period in rats. Eur J Appl Physiol 74: 470-474.
- Fremont P, Lazure C, Tremblay RR, Chretien and Rogers PA 1987. Regulation of carbonic anhydrase III by thyroid hormone: opposite modulation in slowand fast-twitch skeletal muscle. Biochem Cell Biol 65: 790-797.
- Fremont P, Charest PM, Cote C and Rogers PA 1988. Carbonic anhydrase III in skeletal muscle fibers: An immunocytochemical and biochemical study. J Histochem Cytochem 36: 775-782.
- Fullana F, Grande L, Fernandez-Llamazares J, Gonzales-Mestre V and Salva JA 1993. Skin prolylhydroxylase activity and wound healing. Eur Surg Res 25: 370-375.
- Garcia-Bunuel L and Garcia-Bunuel VM 1967. Connective tissue and the pentose phosphate pathway in normal and denervated muscle. Nature 4: 913-914.
- Gerhardt W, Katus H, Ravkilde J, Hamm C, Jorgensen PJ, Peheim E, Ljungdahl L and Löfdahl P 1991. S-troponin T in suspected ischemic myocardial injury compared with mass and catalytic concentrations of S-creatine kinase isoenzyme MB. Clin Chem 37: 1405-1411.
- Giugliano D, Ceriello A and Paolisso G 1996. Oxidative stress and diabetic vascular complications. Diabetes Care 19: 257-267.
- Goldspink DF 1977. The influence of denervation and stretch on the size and protein turnover of rat skeletal muscle. J Physiol (Lond) 269: 87P-88P.
- Goldspink DF and Lewis SE 1985. Age- and activity-related changes in three proteinase enzymes of rat skeletal muscle. Biochem J 230: 833-836.
- Goldspink G, Scutt A, Loughna PT, Wells DJ, Jaenicke T and Gerlach GF 1992. Gene expression in skeletal muscle in response to stretch and force generation. Am J Physiol 262: R356-363.
- Goodman MN, Lowell BB, Belur E and Ruderman NB 1984. Sites of protein conservation and loss during starvation: influence of adiposity. Am J Physiol 246: E383-390.
- Goodyear LJ, Hirshman MF, Knutson SM, Horton ED and Horton ES 1988. Effect of exercise training on glucose homeostasis in normal and insulin-deficient diabetic rats. J Appl Physiol 65: 844-851.
- Greve JMD, Muszkat R, Schmidt B, Chiovatto J, Barros TEP and Battistella LR 1993. Functional electric stimulation (FES): muscle histochemical analysis. Paraplegia 31: 764-770.
- Grizard J, Dardevet D, Balage M, Larbaud D, Sinaud S, Savary I, Grzelkowska K, Rochon C, Tauveron I and Obled C 1999. Insulin action on skeletal muscle protein metabolism during catabolic states. Reprod Nutr Dev 39: 61-74.
- Gros G and Dodgson S 1988. Velocity of CO₂ exchange in muscle and liver. Ann Rev Physiol 50: 669-694.
- Gundersen K and Merlie JP 1994. Id-1 as a possible transcriptional mediator of muscle disuse atrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci 91: 3647-3651.

- Gundersen K 1998. Determination of muscle contractile properties: the importance of the nerve. Acta Physiol Scand 162: 333-341.
- Guth L and Samaha FJ 1970. Procedure for the histochemical demonstration of actomyosin ATPase. Exp Neurol 28: 365-367.
- Han X, Karpakka J, Kainulainen H and Takala TES 1995. Effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes, physical training and their combination on collagen biosynthesis in rat skeletal muscle. Acta Physiol Scand 155: 9-16.
- Han X-Y, Wang W, Komulainen J, Koskinen SOA, Kovanen V, Vihko V, Trackman PC and Takala TES 1999a. Increased mRNAs for procollagens and key regulating enzymes in rat skeletal muscle following downhill running. Pflügers Arch, in press.
- Han X, Wang W, Myllylä R, Virtanen P, Karpakka J and Takala TES 1999b. Immobilization decreases mRNA levels of fibrillar collagen types I and III and α-subunit of prolyl 4-hydroxylase. Am J Physiol, in press.
- Harpur RP 1980. The rat as a model for physical fitness studies. Comp Biochem Physiol 66A: 553-574.
- Harvey, W.K., and T. Nakamoto 1988. The influence of a high protein low carbohydrate diet on bone development in the fetuses of rat dams with streptozocin-induced diabetes. Br. J. Nutr. 59: 57-62.
- Hassager C, Jensen LT, Johansen JS, Riis BJ, Melkko J, Podenphant J, Risteli L, Christiansen C and Risteli J 1991. The carboxy-terminal propeptide of type I procollagen in serum as a marker of bone formation: the effect of nandrolone decanoate and female sex hormones. Metabolism 40: 205-208.
- Havas E, Parviainen T, Vuorela J, Toivanen J, Nikula T and Vihko V 1997. Lymph flow dynamics in exercising human skeletal muscle as detected by scintography. J Physiol 504: 233-239.
- Henning R and Lomo T 1987. Effects of chronic stimulation on the size and speed of long-term denervated and innervated rat fast and slow skeletal muscle. Acta Physiol Scand 130: 115-131.
- Herbison GJ, Jaweed MM, Ditunno JF and Scott CM 1973. Effect of overwork during reinnervation of rat muscle. Exp Neurol 41: 1-14.
- Herbison GJ, Jaweed MM and Ditunno JF 1978. Muscle fiber atrophy after cast immobilization in the rat. Arch Phys Med Rehab 59: 301-305.
- Herbison GJ, Jaweed MM and Ditunno JF 1979. Muscle atrophy in rats following denervation, casting, inflammation and tenotomy. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 60: 401-404.
- Hewett-Emmett D and Tashian RE 1996. Functional diversity, conservation, and convergence in the evolution of α -, β -, and γ -carbonic anhydrase gene families. Mol Phylogenet Evol 5: 50-77.
- Holloszy JO 1975. Adaptation of skeletal muscle to endurance exercise. Med Sci Sports 7: 155-164.
- Holmes RS 1977. Purification, molecular properties and ontogeny of carbonic anhydrase isoenzymes: evidence for A, B, and C isoenzymes in avian and mammalian tissues. Eur J Biochem 78: 511-520.
- Howald H 1982. Training-induced morphological and functional changes in skeletal muscle. Int J Sports Med 3: 1-12.

- Hunzelmann N, Risteli J, Risteli L, Sacher C, Vancheeswaran R, Black C and Krieg T 1998. Circulating type I collagen degradation products: a new serum marker for clinical severity in patients with scleroderma? Br J Dermatol 139: 1020-1025.
- Hurme T, Lehto M, Kalimo H, Kannus P and Järvinen M 1990. Sequence of changes in fibre size and type in muscle immobilized at various lengths. J Sports Traumatol 12: 77-85.
- Ianuzzo CD, Lesser M and Battista F 1974. Metabolic adaptations in skeletal muscle of streptozotocin-diabetic rats following exercise-training. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 58: 107-111.
- Ianuzzo CD and Armstrong RB 1976. Phosphofructokinase and succinate dehydrogenase activities of normal and diabetic rat skeletal muscle. Horm Metab Res 8: 244-245.
- Ingemann-Hansen T and Halkjaer-Kristensen J 1980. Computerized tomographic determination of human thigh component. Scand J Rehab Med 12: 27-31.
- Ishihara A, Oishi Y, Roy RR and Edgerton VR 1997. Influence of two weeks on non-weight bearing on rat soleus motoneurons and muscle fibers. Aviat Space Environ Med 68: 421-425.
- Janssen GM, Kuipers H, Willems GM, Does RJ, Janssen MP and Geurten P 1989. Plasma activity of muscle enzymes: quantification of skeletal muscle damage and relationship with metabolic variables. Int J Sports Med 10: S160-S168.
- Jansson E, Sylvén C, Arvidsson I and Eriksson E 1988. Increase in myoglobin content and decrease in oxidative enzyme activities by leg muscle immobilization in man. Acta Physiol Scand 132: 515-517.
- Jaspers SR and Tischler ME 1984. Atrophy and growth failure of rat hindlimb muscles in tail-cast suspension. J Appl Physiol 57: 1472-1479.
- Jaspers SR, Fagan JM and Tischler ME 1985. Biochemical responses to chronic shortening in unloaded soleus muscles. J Appl Physiol 59: 1159-1163.
- Jaweed MM, Herbison GJ and Ditunno JF 1975. Denervation and reinnervation of fast and slow muscles. A histochemical study in rats. J Histochem Cytochem 23: 808-827.
- Jeffery S, Edwards YH and Carter ND 1980. Distribution of CA III in fetal and adult human tissue. Biochem Genet 18: 843-849.
- Jeffery S, Carter ND and Smith A 1987. Thyroidectomy significantly alters carbonic anhydrase III concentration and fiber distribution in rat muscle. J Histochem Cytochem 35: 663-668.
- Jeffery S, Merry BJ, Holehan AM and Carter ND 1988. The effects of ageing on carbonic anhydrase concentrations in rat liver and skeletal muscle. Biochem J 250: 303-305.
- Jeffery S, Kelly CD, Carter N, Kaufmann M, Termin A and Pette D 1990. Chronic stimulation-induced effects point to a coordinated expression of carbonic anhydrase III and slow myosin heavy chain in skeletal muscle. FEBS Lett 262: 225-227.
- Johnson MA, Polgar J, Weightman D and Appleton D 1973. Data on the distribution of fibre types in thirty six human muscles. An autopsy study. J Neurol Sci 18: 111-129.

- Jozsa L, Thoring J, Järvinen M, Kannus P, Lehto M and Kvist M 1988. Quantitative alterations in intramuscular connective tissue following immobilization: an experimental study in the calf muscles. Exp Mol Pathol 49: 267-278.
- Jozsa L, Kannus P, Thoring J, Reffy A, Järvinen M and Kvist M 1990. The effect of tenotomy and immobilization on intramuscular connective tissue. A morphometric and microscopic study in rat calf muscles. J Bone Joint Surg [Br] 72: 293-297.
- Kääpä E, Han X, Holm S, Peltonen J, Takala T and Vanharanta H 1995. Colagen synthesis and types I, III, IV, and VI collagens in an animal model of disc degeneration. Spine 20: 59-67.
- Kähäri VM, Sandberg M, Kalimo H, Vuorio T and Vuorio E 1988. Identification of fibroblasts responsible for increased collagen production in localized scleroderma by in situ hybridization. J Invest Dermatol 90: 664-670.
- Kainulainen H, Komulainen J, Joost HG and Vihko V 1994. Dissociation of the effects of training on oxidative metabolism, glucose utilization and GLUT4 levels in skeletal muscle of streptozotocin-diabetic rats. Pflügers Arch 427: 444-449.
- Kannus P, Jozsa L, Renström P, Järvinen M, Kvist M, Lehto M, Oja P and Vuori I 1992. The effects of training, immobilization and remobilization on musculoskeletal tissue. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2: 164-176.
- Kannus P, Jozsa L, Järvinen TLN, Kvist M, Vieno T, Järvinen TAH, Natri A and Järvinen M 1998. Free mobilization and low- to high intensity exercise in immobilization-induced muscle atrophy. J Appl Physiol 84: 1418-1424.
- Karpakka J, Väänänen K, Orava S and Takala TE 1990. The effects of reimmobilization training and immobilization on collagen synthesis in rat skeletal muscle. Int J Sports Med 11: 484-488.
- Karpakka JA, Pesola MK and Takala TE 1992. The effects of anabolic steroids on collagen synthesis in rat skeletal muscle and tendon. A preliminary report. Am J Sports Med 20: 262-266.
- Katus HA, Looser S, Hallermayer K, Remppis A, Scheffold T, Borgya A, Essig U and Geuss U 1992. Development and in vitro characterization of a new immunoassay of cardiac troponin T. Clin Chem 38: 386-393.
- Kellett J 1986. Acute soft tissue injuries a review of the literature. Med Sci Sports Exerc 16: 489-500.
- Kelly CD, Carter N, Jeffery S and Edwards Y 1988. Characterization of cDNA clones for rat muscle CAII. Biosci Rep 8: 401.
- Kimball RS and Jefferson LS 1991. Regelation of initiation of protein synthesis by insulin in skeletal muscle. Acta Diabetol 28: 134-139.
- Kirkendall DT and Garrett WE 1997. Function and biomechanics of tendons. Scand J Med Sci Sports 7: 62-66.
- Kirschbaum BJ, Heilig A, Härtner K-T and Pette D 1989. Electrostimulationinduced fast-to-slow transitions of myosin light and heavy chains in rabbit fast-twitch muscle at the mRNA level. FEBS Lett 243: 123-126.
- Kivirikko KI, Laitinen O and Prockop DJ 1967. Modifications of a specific assay for hydroxyproline in urine. Anal Biochem 19: 249-255.

- Kivirikko KI and Myllylä R 1982a. Biosynthesis of the collagen. In Piez KA and Reddi AH (eds) Extracellular Matrix Biochemistry. Elsevier, New York, p 83-118.
- Kivirikko KI and Myllylä R 1982b. Post-translational modifications. In Weiss JB and Jayson MIV (eds) Collagen in Health and Disease. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh, p 101-120.
- Kivirikko K, Saarela J, Myers JC, Autio-Harmainen H and Pihlajaniemi T 1995. Distribution of type XV collagen transcripts in human tissue and their production by muscle cells and fibroblasts. Am J Pathol 147: 1500-1509.
- Klein L, Player JS, Heiple KG, Bahniuk E and Goldberg VM 1982. Isotopic evidence for resorption of soft tissues and bone in immobilized dogs. J Bone Joint Surg 64A: 225-230.
- Koester MK, Pullan LM and Noltmann EA 1981. The *p*-nitrophenyl phosphatase activity of muscle carbonic anhydrase. Arch Biochem Biophys 211: 632-642.
- Komulainen J, Takala TES and Vihko V 1995. Does increased serum creatine kinase activity reflect exercise-induced muscle damage in rats? Int J Sports Med 16: 150-154.
- Kondo H and Itokawa Y 1994. Oxidative stress in muscular atrophy. In Sen CK, Packer L and Hänninen O (eds) Exercise and Oxygen Toxicity. Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, p 319-342.
- Koskinen SOA, Kjaer M, Mohr T, Biering Sorensen F, Suuronen T and Takala TES. Type IV collagen and its degradation in paralyzed human muscle: effect of functional electrical stimulation. Submitted for publication.
- Kovanen V, Suominen H and Heikkinen E 1980. Connective tissue of "fast" and "slow" skeletal muscle in rats effects of endurance training. Acta Physiol Scand 108: 173-180.
- Kovanen V, Suominen H and Heikkinen E 1984a. Collagen in slow twitch and fast twitch muscle fibres in different types of rat skeletal muscle. Eur J Appl Physiol 52: 235-242.
- Kovanen V, Suominen H and Heikkinen E 1984b. Mechanical properties of fast and slow skeletal muscle with special reference to collagen and endurance training. J Biomech 17: 725-735.
- Kovanen V, Suominen H and Peltonen L 1987b. Effects of aging and life-long physical training on collagen in slow and fast skeletal muscle in rats. A morphometric and immunohistochemical study. Cell Tissue Res 248: 247-255.
- Kovanen V. 1989. Effects of ageing and physical training on rat skeletal muscle. Doctoral thesis. Acta Physiol Scand 135 Suppl. 577.
- Kuutti-Savolainen E-R 1979. Enzymes of collagen biosynthesis in skin and serum in dermatological diseases: II. Serum enzymes. Clin Chim Acta 96: 53-58.
- Kuutti-Savolainen E-R, Anttinen H, Miettinen TA and Kivirikko KI 1979. Collagen biosynthesis enzymes in serum and hepatic tissue in liver disease: II. Galactosylhydroxylysyl glucosyltransferase. Eur J Clin Invest 9: 97-101.
- Kühl U, Öcalan M, Timpl R, Mayne R, Hay E and von der Mark K 1984. Role of muscle fibroblasts in the deposition of type-IV collagen in the basal lamina of myotubes. Different 28: 164-172.

- Laaksonen DE, Atalay M, Niskanen L, Uusitupa M, Hänninen O and Sen CK 1996. Increased resting and exercise-induced oxidative stress in young IDDM men. Diabetes Care 19: 569-574.
- Lammi L, Kinnula V, Lähde S, Risteli J, Paakko P, Lakari E and Ryhänen L 1997. Propeptide levels of type III and type I procollagen in the serum and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of patients with pulmonary sarcoidosis. Eur Respir J 10: 2725-2730.
- Lammi L, Ryhänen L, Lakari E, Risteli J, Paakko P, Kahlos K, Lähde S and Kinnula V 1999. Type III and type I procollagen markers in fibriosing alveolitis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159: 818-823.
- Lanyon LE 1987. Functional strain in bone tissue as an objective and controlling stimulus for adaptive bone remodelling. J Biomech 20: 1083-1093.
- Lapier TK, Burton HW, Almon R and Cerny E 1995. Alterations in intramuscular connective tissue after limb casting affect contraction-induced muscle injury. J Appl Physiol 78: 1065-1069.
- Laurent GJ 1987. Dynamic state of collagen: pathways of collagen degradation *in vivo* and their possible role in regulation of collagen mass. Am J Physiol 252: C1-C9.
- Laurila A, Parvinen E-K, Slot J and Väänänen HK 1989. Consecutive expression of carbonic anhydrase isoenzymes during development of rat liver and skeletal muscle differentiation. J Histochem Cytochem 37: 1375-1382.
- Laurila A, Jeffery S, Savolainen J, Takala TES, Carter ND and Väänänen HK 1991. Immobilization induces carbonic anhydrase III synthesis in type II muscle fibers of rat skeletal muscle. J Histochem Cytochem 39: 617-624.
- Laurila A, Virtanen P, Carter N, Takala TES and Väänänen K. Immobilization induced increase of carbonic anhydrase III in rat skeletal muscle is not reversed during remobilization. Submitted for publication.
- Leeson TS and Leeson CR 1981. Histology. W.B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia, p 187-215.
- Liesegang A, Sassi ML, Risteli J, Eicher R, Wanner M and Riond JL 1998. Comparison of bone resorption markers during hypocalcemia in dairy cows. J Dairy Sci 81: 2614-2622.
- Light N and Champion AE 1984. Characterization of muscle epimysium, perimysium and endomysium collagens. Biochem J 219: 1017-1026.
- Lii C-K, Chai Y-C, Zhao W, Thomas JA and Hendrich S 1994. S-thiolation and irreversible oxidation of sulfhydryls on carbonic anhydrase III during oxidative stress: a method for studying protein modification in intact cells and tissues. Arch Biochem Biophys 308: 231-239.
- Lindskog S 1997. Structure and mechanism of carbonic anhydrase. Pharmacol Ther 74: 1-20.
- Löfberg M, Tähtelä R, Härkönen M and Somer H 1995. Myosin heavy-chain fragments and cardiac troponins in the serum in rhabdomyolysis. Arch Neurol 52: 1210-1214.
- Lotta S, Scelsi R, Alfonsi E, Saitta A, Nicolotti D, Epifani P and Carraro U 1991. Morphometric and neurophysiological analysis of skeletal muscle in paraplegic patients with traumatic cord lesion. Paraplegia 29: 247-252.
- Loughna PT, Izumo S, Goldspink G and Nadal-Ginard B 1990. Disuse and passive stretch cause rapid alterations in expression of developmental and adult contractile protein genes in skeletal muscle. Development 109: 217-223.
- Lu DX, Huang SK and Carlson BM 1997. Electron microscopic study of long-term denervated rat skeletal muscle. Anat Rec 248: 355-365.
- Luthi JM, Gerber C, Claassen H and Hoppeler H 1989. Die verletzte und die immobilisierte Muskelzelle: Ultrastructurelle Betrachtungen. Sportverletzung Sportschaden 3: 58-61.
- Mair J, Artner-Dworzak E, Lechleitner P, Smidt J, Wagner I, Dienstl F and Puschendorf B 1991. Cardiac troponin T in diagnosis of acute myocardial infarction. Clin Chem 37: 845-852.
- Mair J, Koller A, Artner-Dworzak E, Haid C, Wicke K, Judmaier W and Puschendorf B 1992. Effects of exercise on plasma myosin heavy chain fragments and MRI of skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol 72: 656-663.
- Manchester KL 1970. The control by insulin of amino acid accumulation in muscle. Biochem J 117: 457-465.
- Marsh DR, Campbell CB and Spriet LL 1992. Effect of hindlimb unweighting on anaerobic metabolism in rat skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol 72(4): 1304-1310.
- Martin TP 1988. Protein and collagen content of rat skeletal muscle following space flight. Cell Tissue Res 254: 251-253.
- Martin TP, Stein RB, Hoeppner PH and Reid DC 1992. Influence of electrical stimulation on the morphological and metabolic properties of paralyzed muscle. J Appl Physiol 72: 1401-1406.
- Mayne R and Sanderson RD 1985. The extracellular matrix of muscle. Coll Rel Res 5: 449-468.
- McAnulty RJ, Campa JS, Cambrey AD and Laurent GJ 1991. The effect of transforming growth factor beta on rates of procollagen synthesis and degradation in vitro. Biochim Biophys Acta 1091: 231-235.
- Meldrum NU and Roughton FJW 1933. Carbonic anhydrase: its preparation and properties. J Physiol (London) 80: 113-142.
- Melin B, Bourdon L, Jimenez C, Charpenet A and Bernard O 1997. Plasma myosin and kreatine kinase time-course after a concentric-eccentric field exercise. Arch Physiol Biochem 105: 27-31.
- Miers WR and Barrett EJ 1998. The role of insulin and other hormones in the regulation of amino acid and protien metabolism in humans. J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol 9: 235-253.
- Milot J, Cote CH and Tremblay RR 1994. Putative effects of nerve extract on carbonic anhydrase III expression in rat muscles. Muscle Nerve 17: 1431-1438.
- Mohr T, Andersen JL, Biering-Sorensen F, Galbo H, Bangsbo J, Wagner A and Kjaer M 1997. Long term adaptation to electrically induced cycle training in severe spinal cord injured individuals. Spinal Cord 35: 1-16.
- Moynihan JB and Ennis S 1990. Acetazolamide-insensitive carbonic anhydrase activities in liver and tonic skeletal muscle of adult male rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus. Biochem J 272: 553-556.

- Musacchia XJ, Deavers DR, Meininger GA and Davis TP 1980. A model for hypokinesia: effects on muscle atrophy in the rat. J Appl Physiol 48: 479-486.
- Musacchia XJ, Steffen JM and Fell RD 1988. Disuse atrophy of skeletal muscle: animal models. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 16: 61-87.
- Myllylä R and Seppä H 1979. Studies on enzymes of collagen biosynthesis and the synthesis of hydroxyproline in macrophages and mast cells. Biochem J 182: 311-316.
- Myllylä R, Risteli L and Kivirikko KI 1975. Assay of collagen glucosyltransferase activities and preliminary characterization of enzymic reactions with transferases from chick embryo cartilage. Eur J Biochem 52: 401-410.
- Myllylä R, Salminen A, Peltonen L, Takala TES and Vihko V 1986. Collagen metabolism of mouse skeletal muscle during repair of exercise injuries. Pflügers Arch 407: 647- 670.
- Myllylä R, Myllylä VV, Tolonen U and Kivirikko KI 1982. Changes in collagen in diseased muscle. I. Biochemical studies. Arch Neurol 39: 752-755.
- Niederle B and Mayr R 1978. Course of denervation atrophy in type I and type II fibres of rat extensor digitorum longus muscle. Anat Embryol 153: 9-21.
- Oliver RC and Tervonen T 1994. Diabetes a risk factor for periodontis in adults? J Periodontol 65: 530-538.
- Padykula HA and Herman E 1955. The specificity of the histochemical method for adenosine triphosphatase. J Histochem Cytochem 3: 170-195.
- Pain VM and Garlick PJ 1974. Effect of streptozotocin diabetes and insulin treatment on the rate of protein synthesis in tissues of the rat *in vivo*. J Biol Chem 249: 4510-4514.
- Peltonen J, Hsiao LL, Jaakkola S, Sollberg S, Aumailley M, Timpl R, Chu ML and Uitto J 1991. Activation of collagen gene expression in keloids: colocalization of type I and VI collagen and transforming growth factor-beta 1 mRNA. J Invest Dermatol 97: 240-248.
- Penttinen RP, Kobayashi S and Bornstein P 1988. Transforming growth factor beta increases mRNA for matrix proteins both in the presence and in the absence of changes in mRNA stability. Proc Natl Acad Sci 85: 1105-1108.
- Pocker Y and Meany JE 1965. The catalytic versatility of erythrocyte carbonic anhydrase. I. Kinetic studies of the enzyme-catalyzed hydration of acetaldehyde. Biochemistry 4: 2535-2541.
- Pocker Y and Sarkanen S 1978. Carbonic anhydrase: structure, catalytic versatility, and inhibition. Adv Enzymol 47: 149-275.
- Prockop DJ and Kivirikko KI 1995. Collagens: molecular biology, diseases, and potentials for therapy. Annu Rev Biochem 64: 403-434.
- Räisänen SR, Lehenkari P, Tasanen M, Rahkila P, Härkönen PL and Väänänen HK 1999. Carbonic anhydrase III protects cells from hydrogen peroxide-induced apoptosis. FASEB J 13: 513-522.
- Reddi AS 1988. Collagen metabolism in the myocardium of normal and diabetic rats. Exp Mol Pathol 48: 236-243.
- Reeds PJ, Palmer RM and Smith RH 1980. Protein and collagen synthesis in rat diaphragm muscle incubated in vitro and the effect of alterations in

tension produced by electrical or mechanical means. Int J Biochem 11: 7-14.

- Register AM, Koester MK and Noltman EA 1978. Discovery of carbonic anhydrase in rabbit skeletal muscle and evidence for its identity with "basic muscle protein". J Biol Chem 253: 4143-4152.
- Risteli J, Melkko J, Niemi S and Risteli L 1991. Use of a marker of collagen formation in osteoporosis studies. Calcific Tissue Int 49: S24-S25.
- Risteli J and Risteli L 1997. Assays of type I procollagen domains and collagen fragments: problems to be solved and future trends. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 227: 105-113.
- Rokutan K, Thomas JA and Johnston RB 1991. Phagocytosis and stimulation of the respiratory burst by phorbol diester initiate S-thilation of specific proteins in macrophages. J Immunol 147: 260-264.
- Roy RR, Baldwin KM and Edgerton VR 1996. Response of the neuromuscular unit to spaceflight: what has been learned from the rat model. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 24: 399-425.
- Saarela J, Ylikärppä R, Rehn M, Purmonen S and Pihlajaniemi T 1998. Complete primary structure of two variant forms of human type XVIII collagen and tissue-specific differencies in the expression of the corresponding transcripts. Matrix Biol 16: 319-328.
- Salonen V, Lehto M, Kalimo H, Penttinen R and Aro H 1985. Changes in intramuscular collagen and fibronectin in denervation atrophy. Muscle Nerve 8: 125-131.
- Saltin B and Gollnick PD 1983. Skeletal muscle adaptability: significance for metabolism and performance. In Beachey LD (ed) Handbook of Physiology. American Physiological Society, Bethesda, p 555-631.
- Sandberg M, Tamminen M, Hirvonen H, Vuorio E and Pihlajaniemi T 1989. Expression of mRNAs coding for the α1 chain of type XIII collagen in human fetal tissues: comparison with expression of mRNAs for collagen types I, II and III. J Cell Biol 109: 1371-1379.
- Sandberg MM, Hirvonen HE, Elima KJ and Vuorio EI 1993. Co-expression of collagens II and XI and alternative splicing of exon 2 of collagen II in several developing human tissues. Biochem J 294: 595-602.
- Santala M, Risteli J, Risteli L, Puistola U, Kacinski BM, Stanley ER and Kauppila A 1998. Synthesis and breakdown of fibrillar collagens: concomitant phenomena in ovarian cancer. Br J Cancer 77: 1825-1831.
- Sardesai VM 1995. Role of antioxidants in health maintenance. Nutr Clin Pract 10: 19-25.
- Savolainen J, Väänänen K, Vihko V, Puranen J and Takala TES 1987. Effect of immobilization on collagen synthesis in rat skeletal muscles. Am J Physiol 252: R883-R888.
- Savolainen J, Komulainen J, Vihko V, Väänänen K, Puranen J and Takala TES 1988a. Collagen synthesis and proteolytic activities in rat skeletal muscles: effect of cast-immobilization in the lengthened and shortened positions. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 69: 964-969.

- Savolainen J, Myllylä V, Myllylä R, Vihko V, Väänänen K and Takala TES 1988b. Effects of denervation and immobilization on collagen synthesis in rat skeletal muscle and tendon. Am J Physiol 254: R897-R902.
- Sawai H 1982. Collagen metabolism of skeletal muscle after denervation. J Jpn Orthop Assoc 56: 753-764.
- Schiaffino S, Gorza L, Pitton G, Saggin L, Ausoni S, Sartore S and Lomo D 1987. Embryonic and neonatal myosin heavy chain in denervated and paralyzed rat skeletal muscle. Dev Biol 127: 1-11.
- Sen CK 1995. Oxidants and antioxidants in exercise. J Appl Physiol 79: 675-686.
- Shiels A, Jeffery S, Wilson C and Carter ND 1984. Radioimmunoassay of carbonic anhydrase III in rat tissues. Biochem J 218: 281-284.
- Simon LS, Slovik DM, Neer RM and Krane SM 1988. Changes in serum levels of type I and type III procollagen extension peptides during infusion of human parathyroid hormone fragment (1-34). J Bone Miner Res 3: 241-246.
- Sly WS and Hu PY 1995. Human carbonic anhydrases and carbonic anhydrase deficiencies. Annu Rev Biochem 64: 375-401.
- Smedsrod B 1988. Aminoterminal propeptide of type III procollagen is cleared from the circulation by receptor-mediated endocytosisin liver endothelial cells. Coll Relat Res 8: 375-388.
- Smedsrod B, Melkko J, Risteli L and Risteli J 1990. Circulating C-terminal propeptide of type I procollagen is cleared mainly via the mannose receptor in liver endothelial cells. Biochem J 271: 345-350.
- Sorichter S, Mair J, Koller A, Gebert W, Rama D, Calzolari C, Artner-Dworzak E and Puschendorf B 1997. Skeletal troponin I as a marker of exercise-induced muscle damage. J Appl Physiol 83: 1076-1082.
- Spanheimer RG 1992. Correlation between decreased collagen production in diabetic animals and in cells exposed to diabetic serum: response to insulin. Matrix 12: 101-107.
- Spicer SS, Ge ZH, Tashian DJ, Hazen-Martin DJ and Schulte B 1990. Comparative distribution of carbonic anhydrase isozymes III and II in rodent tissues. Am J Anat 187: 55-64.
- Srere PA 1969. Citrate synthase. In Colowick SP and Kaplan NO (eds) Methods in Enzymology, vol 13. Academic Press, New York, p 3-5.
- Stadtman ER, Berlett BS and Chock PB 1990. Manganese-dependent disproportionation of hydrogen peroxide in bicarbonate buffer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87: 384-388.
- Starke-Reed PE and Oliver CN 1989. Protein oxidation and proteolysis during aging and oxidative stress. Arch Biochem Biophys 275: 559-567.
- Staron RS, Golsch B and Pette D 1987. Myosin pleomorphism in single fibers in chronically stimulated rabbit fast-twitch muscle. Pflügers Arch 408: 444-450.
- Tabary JC, Tardieu C, Tardieu G and Tabary C 1981. Experimental rapid sarcomere loss with concomitant hypoextensibility. Muscle Nerve 4: 198-203.
- Takala TES, Myllylä R, Salminen A, Anttinen H and Vihko V 1983. Increased activities of prolyl 4-hydroxylase and galactosylhydroxylysyl

glucosyltransferase, enzymes of collagen biosynthesis, in skeletal muscle of endurance trained mice. Pflügers Arch 399: 271-274.

- Takala TES, Vuori J, Anttinen H, Väänänen K and Myllylä R 1986. Prolonged exercise causes an increase in the activity of galactosylhydroxylysyl glucosyltransferase and in the concentration in type III procollagen aminopropeptide in human serum. Pflügers Arch 407: 500-503.
- Takala TES, Rahkila P, Hakala E, Vuori J, Puranen J and Väänänen K 1989a. Serum carbonic anhydrase III, an enzyme of type I muscle fibers, and the intensity of physical exercise. Pflügers Arch 413: 447-450.
- Takala TES, Vuori JJ, Rahkila PJ, Hakala EO, Karpakka JA, Alen MJ, Orava YS and Väänänen HK 1989b. Carbonic anhydrase III and collagen markers in serum following cross-country skiing. Med Sci Sports Exerc 21: 593- 597.
- Takala TES, Rämö P, Kiviluoma K, Vihko V, Kainulainen H and Kettunen R 1991. Effects of training and anabolic steroids on collagen synthesis in dog heart. Eur J Appl Physiol 62: 1-6.
- Takala TES, Koskinen SOA, Ahtikoski AM, Komulainen J, Hesselink M, Kuipers H, Vihko V and Kovanen V 1998. Long-term effects of forced muscle contractions on basement membrane collagen and its degradation. FASEB. Abstracts part I 12: A413.
- Tapanainen P, Knip M, Risteli L, Kemppainen L, Kaar ML and Risteli J 1997. Collagen metabolites in the prediction of response to GH therapy in short children. Eur J Endocrinol 137: 621-625.
- Tashian RE and Hewett-Emmett D (eds) 1984. Biology and Chemistry of the Carbonic Anhydrases A. NY Acad Sci 429: 1-840.
- The Committee on Enzymes of the Scandinavian Society for Clinical Chemistry and Clinical Physiology 1978. Recommended method for the determination of creatine kinase in blood. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 36: 711-723.
- Thomason DB and Booth FW 1990. Atrophy of the soleus muscle by hindlimb unweighting. J Appl Physiol 68: 1-12.
- Tiidus PM and Ianuzzo CD 1983. Effects of intensity and duration of muscular exercise on delayed soreness and serum enzyme activities. Med Sci Sports Exerc 15: 461- 465.
- Tipton CM, Matthes RD, Maynard JA and Carey RA 1975. The influence of physical activity on ligaments and tendons. Med Sci Sports Exerc 7: 165-175.
- Toivonen J, Tähtelä R, Laitinen K, Risteli J and Välimäki MJ 1998. Markers of bone turnover in patients with differential thyroid cancer with and following withdrawal of thyroxine suppressive therapy. Eur J Endocrinol 138: 667-673.
- Tureci O, Sahin U, Vollmar E, Siemer S, Gottert E, Seitz G, Parkkila AK, Shah GN, Grubb JH, Pfreundschuh M and Sly WS 1998. Human carbonic anhydrase XII: cDNA cloning, expression, and chromosomal localization of a carbonic anhydrase gene that is overexpressed in some renal cell cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 23; 95: 7608-7613.
- Turto H, Lindy S and Halme J 1974. Protocollagen prolyl hydroxylase activity in work-induced hypertrophy of rat muscle. Am J Physiol 226: 63-65.

- Väänänen HK, Paloniemi M and Vuori J 1985. Purification and localization of human carbonic anhydrase III. Typing of skeletal muscle fibers in paraffin embedded sections. Histochemistry 83: 231-235.
- Väänänen HK, Takala T and Morris DC 1986. Immunoelectron microscopic localization of carbonic anhydrase III in rat skeletal muscle. Histochemistry 86: 175-179.
- Väänänen K, Leppilampi M, Vuori J and Takala T 1986. Liberation of muscle carbonic anhydrase into serum during extensive physical exercise. J Appl Physiol 61: 561-564.
- Väänänen HK and Autio-Harmainen H 1987. Carbonic anhydrase III: a new histochemical marker for myoepithelial cells. J Histochem Cytochem 35: 683-686.
- Väänänen HK, Takala TE, Tolonen U, Vuori J and Myllylä VV 1988. Musclespecific carbonic anhydrase III is a more sensitive marker of muscle damage than creatine kinase in neuromuscular disorders. Arch Neurol 45: 1254-1256.
- Väänänen HK, Syrjälä H, Rahkila P, Vuori J, Melamies LM, Myllylä V and Takala TES 1990. Serum carbonic anhydrase III and myoglobin concentrations in acute myocardial infarction. Clin Chem 36:635-638.
- Vailas AC, Zernicke RF, Grindeland RE and Li KC 1989. Suspension effects on morphological and mechanical properties of the bone-ligament junction. Med Sci Sports Exerc 21: S88.
- Van der Meulen JH, Kuipers H and Drukker J 1991. Relationship between exercise-induced muscle damage and enzyme release in rats. J Appl Physiol 71: 99-1004.
- Vihko V and Salminen A 1986. Propagation and repair of exercise-induced skeletal fiber injury. In Benzi G, Packer L and Siliprandi N (eds) Biochemical aspects of physical exercise. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p 337-346.
- Viidik A 1986. Adaptability of connective tissue. In Saltin B (ed) Biochemistry of Exercise VI. International Series on Sports Sciences, vol. 16. Human Kinetics Publications, Champaign, IL, p 545-562.
- Viitasalo JT and Bosco C 1982. Electromechanical behaviour of human muscles in vertical jumps. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 48: 253-261.
- Vuori J, Rasi S, Takala T and Väänänen K 1991. Dual-label time-resolved fluoroimmunoassay for simultaneous detection of myoglobin and carbonic anhydrase III in serum. Clin Chem 37: 2087-2092.
- Vuorio E and de Chrombrugghe B 1990. The family of collagen genes. Ann Rev Biochem 59: 837-872.
- Wälchli C, Koch M, Chiquet M, Odermatt BF and Trueb B 1994. Tissue-specific expression of the fibril-associated collagens XII and XIV. J Cell Sci 107: 669-681.
- Waterlow JC, Garlic PJ and Millward DJ 1978. Protein turnover in the mammalian tissues and in the whole body. Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, Netherlands, p 510-527.
- Wetzel P, Liebner T and Gros G 1990. Carbonic anhydrase inhibition and calcium transients in soleus fibers. FEBS Lett 267: 66-70.
- Williams PE and Goldspink G 1981. Connective tissue changes in surgically overloaded muscle. Cell Tissue Res 221: 465-470.

- Wistrand PJ, Carter ND and Askmark H 1987. Induction of rat muscle carbonic anhydrase by denervation demonstrated with immunofluorescence. Comp Biochem Physiol 86A: 177-184.
- Witzman FA, Kim DH and Fitts RH 1982. Recovery time course in contractile function of fast and slow skeletal muscle after hindlimb immobilization. J Appl Physiol 52: 677-682.
- Wolf E, Magora A and Gonen B 1971. Disuse atrophy of the quadriceps muscle. Electromyography 11: 479-490.
- Woo SL, Rittel MA, Amiel D, Saunders TM, Gomez MA, Kuei SC, Garfin SR and Akeson WH 1980. The biomechanical and biochemical properties of swine tendons – long-term effects of exercise on the digital extensors. Conn Tiss Res 7: 177-183.
- Woo SL, Gomez MA, Amiel D, Ritter MA, Gelberman RH and Akeson WH 1981. The effects of exercise on the biomechanical and biochemical properties of swine digital flexor tendons. J Biomech Eng 103: 51-56.
- Yoshimura K, Asato H, Cederna PS, Urbanchek MG and Kuzon WM 1999. The effect of reinnervation on force production and power output in skeletal muscle. J Surg Res 81: 201-208.
- Zheng A, Rahkila P, Vuori J, Rasi S, Takala T and Väänänen HK 1992. Quantification of carbonic anhydrase III and myoglobin in different fiber types of human psoas muscle. Histochemistry 97: 77-81.
- Zimmerman SD, McCormick RJ, Vadlamudi RK and Thomas DP 1993. Age and training alter collagen characteristics in fast- and slow-twitch rat limb muscle. J Appl Physiol 75: 1670-1674.

Effect of immobilization on carbonic anhydrase III and myoglobin content in human leg muscle

by

Paula Virtanen, H. Kalervo Väänänen, Lauri Pasanen, Seppo Lähde, Jaakko Puranen and Timo E.S. Takala

> Acta Physiologica Scandinavica 142: 303-306, 1991

Reproduced with permission of Acta Physiologica Scandinavica, June 1, 1999

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.1991.tb09161.x

Ι

Effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes and training on carbonic anhydrase III in rat skeletal muscle

by

Paula Virtanen, Wei Wang, Satu O.A Koskinen, Xiaoyan Han, Juhani Vuori, Heikki Kainulainen, Kalervo Väänänen and Timo E.S. Takala

(submitted)

Π

Collagen synthesis in rat skeletal muscle during immobilization and remobilization

by

Jarmo Karpakka, Paula Virtanen, Kalervo Väänänen, Sakari Orava and Timo E.S. Takala

> Journal of Applied Physiology 70: 1775-1780, 1991

Reproduced with permission of The American Physiological Society, August 5, 1999

https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1991.70.4.1775

III

IV

The effects of remobilization and exercise on collagen biosynthesis in rat tendon

by

Jarmo Karpakka, Kalervo Väänänen, Paula Virtanen, Jukka Savolainen, Sakari Orava and Timo E.S. Takala

Acta Physiologica Scandinavica 139: 139-145, 1990

Reproduced with permission of Acta Physiologica Scandinavica, June 1, 1999

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.1990.tb08906.x

Effect of reinnervation on collagen synthesis in rat skeletal muscle

by

Paula Virtanen, Uolevi Tolonen, Jukka Savolainen and Timo E.S. Takala

Journal of Applied Physiology 72: 2069-2074, 1992

Reproduced with permission of The American Physiological Society, August 5, 1999

https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1992.72.6.2069

V

VI

Effect of concentric exercise on serum muscle and collagen markers

by

Paula Virtanen, Jukka Viitasalo, Juhani Vuori, Kalervo Väänänen and Timo E.S. Takala

Journal of Applied Physiology 75: 1272-1277, 1993

Reproduced with permission of The American Physiological Society, August 5, 1999

https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1993.75.3.1272